### **Dima P. Adamsky**

# American Strategic Culture and the US Revolution in Military Affairs





### **DEFENCE AND SECURITY STUDIES**

is a peer-reviewed monograph series published by the Norwegian Institute of Defence Studies in Oslo

It provides in-depth studies of topics which include all aspects of defence policy, security relations in Northern Europe and the Transatlantic and Eurasian area, military and civilian crisis operations, as well as relations within and between security actors such as NATO, the EU and the UN.

The series welcomes contributions from historians, political scientists, scholars of international relations and war/security studies, as well as scholars from other disciplines or practitioners in the above mentioned fields.

It aims to reach an audience of academic researchers, defence and foreign affairs analysts, politicians, diplomats, journalists, as well as others with a special interest in this field of research.

Editor: Anna Therese Klingstedt (e-mail: therese.klingstedt@ifs.mil.no)

### EDITORIAL BOARD

Dr Kristina Spohr-Readman, London School of Economics

Dr Maria Strömvik, University of Lund Dr Henning-André Frantzen, The Norwegian Ministry of Defence

Prof. Rolf Hobson, Norwegian Institute for Defence Studies.

### ADVISORY BOARD

Prof. Wilhelm Agrell, University of Lund Prof. Mats Berdal, King's College London Prof. Beatrice Heuser, University of Reading Dr Johnny Laursen, University of Aarhus Dr Joseph Maiolo, King's College London Prof. Helge Pharo, University of Oslo Prof. Kimmo Rentola, University of Turku Dr Tomas Ries, Director, Swedish Institute of International Affairs

Prof. Patrick Salmon, Chief Historian, Foreign and Commonwealth Office, London Julianne Smith, Director Europe Program, CSIS, Washington D.C.

Prof. Emeritus Krister Wahlbäck, University of Umeå and Ministry for Foreign Affairs,

Prof. Øyvind Østerud, University of Oslo.

### MANUSCRIPTS

Guidelines for contributors appear on page three of the cover.

### SUBSCRIPTION

Defence and Security Studies is published 4 times a year. Subscribers to the series automatically also receive the Oslo Files on Defence and Security series of studies aimed more towards the general public. Oslo Files on Defence and Security publishes articles in Scandinavian languages or English 6–8 times a year.

### SUBSCRIPTION RATES

Institutions: NOK 600 Individuals: NOK 300

Single issues can be obtained subject to availability. Prices are subject to change without notice and are available upon request.

To subscribe or order single issues, please contact

Norwegian Institute for Defence Studies Skippergata 17c

P.O. Box 890 Sentrum N-0104 OSLO, Norway Phone +47 23 09 77 00 Fax + 47 23 09 77 49 e-mail: info@ifs.mil.no

### THE NORWEGIAN INSTITUTE FOR DEFENCE STUDIES

The Norwegian Institute for Defence Studies is an independent institute administratively attached to the Norwegian Defence Education Command. The Institute conducts independent research on Norwegian security and defence policy, military concepts and theory, international conflicts and cooperation and transatlantic relations. The Consultative Board for Defence Studies assists the Institute in developing and conducting research programmes. The Board is composed of representatives from the defence establishment and the University of Oslo.

Director: Professor Rolf Tamnes.

ISSN: 1504-6532

ISBN 978-82-91571-08-9

# American Strategic Culture and the US Revolution in Military Affairs

### **Contents**

	page
The RMA and the Cultural Approach to Security Studies	5
Revolution in Military Affairs	5
The Impact of Cultural Factors on Military Innovations	8
An Amercian Revolution in Military Affairs	13
Technological, Doctrinal and Conceptual Preconditions of the American RMA	13
The Soviet Theory of the Military-Technical Revolution	18
American intelligence and the assessment of the Soviet MTR	21
The Conceptual Birth of the American RMA	25
American Strategic Culture	33
American Way of War: Swift Annihilation and Attrition by Fire Power	33
Astrategic Thinking	35
Optimistic and Engineering Approaches to Security	38
American Time Orientation - "Present and Immediate Future"	39
Democratic Tradition, Bottom-Up Organization and the Role of	
the Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS)	41
Technological Romanticism in Military Affairs	43
An Inclination to Ethnocentrism	46
Conclusion	49
Cultural Factors and the American RMA	49
Bibliography	53

# American Strategic Culture and the US Revolution in Military Affairs

abstract

This monograph will trace the impact of American strategic culture on the approach of the US defense community to the revolution in military affairs (RMA). After the introduction, the discussion will be divided into three parts: the concept of revolutions in military affairs and theories of strategic culture will be discussed in the first part of this monograph; the second part will concentrate on the intellectual history of the American RMA; the general sources and the main traits of American strategic culture will be addressed in the third part; the conclusion will integrate the previous two parts, and will use the characteristics of American strategic culture to account for the conduct of the US defense community with regard to the RMA.

KEYWORDS: strategic culture, revolution in military affairs, Soviet military-technical revolution, US defense transformation, high-technology warfare

# The RMA and the Cultural Approach to Security Studies

### **Revolution in Military Affairs**

Revolution in military affairs is the term used for a radical military innovation in which new organizational structures together with novel force deployment methods, usually but not always driven by technology, change the conduct of warfare. Indeed, most military revolutions have arisen from technological advances. However, RMAs are driven by more than breakthroughs in technology, which in themselves do not guarantee successful innovation.

Technology only sets the parameters of the possible and creates the potential for military revolution. What indeed produces an actual innovation is the extent to which militaries recognize and exploit the opportunities inherent in new tools of war, through organizational structures and deployment of force. It was how people responded to technology that produced seismic shifts in warfare,

argues Max Boots, who has inquired into the nature of the military revolutions since 1500.<sup>3</sup> While the technological component is

For an overview of the RMA, see the Project of Defense Alternatives web site. The famous, initial, and the most widely used definition was offered by Andrew Krepinevich in "Cavalry to Computer: the pattern of Military Revolutions", National Interest, no. 37 (fall 1994). Some scholars simply define it as "a radical change in the conduct and character of war." Colin Gray, Recognizing and Understanding Revolutionary Change in Warfare (Carlisle: US Army War College, 2006), p. vi.

For the impact of anthropological, demographic, natural, physiological and economic factors on the transformation of warfare, see: Azar Gat, War in Human Civilization (Oxford: Oxford UP, 2006), and Stephen Rosen, War and Human Nature (Princeton NJ.: Princeton UP, 2006).

Max Boot, War Made New: Technology, Warfare and the Course of History, 1500 to Today (New York: Gotham Books, 2006), p. 10.

often an important initial condition, a true revolution depends on a confluence between weaponry, a concept of operations, organization and the vision of future war.4

Anyone who anticipates the RMA and transforms his military forces accordingly will significantly enhance military effectiveness.<sup>5</sup> A delay, consequently, will have the reverse effect. Thus, the earlier defense experts recognize and understand the discontinuity in the nature of war, the better. For the most part RMAs have been recognized only after the fact. 6 However there were cases in history when, early on, the significance of unfolding RMAs was recognized. The ability to diagnose and understand the discontinuity in the nature of war – the rapid change in ways and means of fighting – is probably the most critical aspect of defense management. Imagining the future enables defense managers to embark in real time on crafting what Stephen Rosen calls the "new theory of victory".8

Since the early 1990s, the US and other world militaries have come to understand that the most dramatic revolution in warfare since the introduction of nuclear weapons is underway. In mechanical terms, the information-technology revolution in military affairs (IT-RMA) integrated long-range, precision-guided munitions, C4I (command, control, communications, computers and information) and RSTA (reconnaissance, surveillance, targeting acquisition) in a form that completely changed the combat environment and altered the way people think about the aims and methods of conventional warfare. In terms of basic capabilities, the IT-RMA entails the ability to strike with great accuracy, irrespective of range; the ability to penetrate defensive barriers using stealth technology and unmanned warfare; and the ability to move information rapidly across a joint battle network and exploit the effects of increased joint force integration.9

In terms of organizational structures and concepts of operations, classical patterns of advancing along fronts with discernible lines and

<sup>4</sup> Earl H. Tilford, The Revolutions in Military Affairs: Problems and Cautions (Strategic Studies Institute, US Army War College, 1995), p. iii.

Richard Hundley, Past Revolutions, Future Transformation: What can the history of revolutions in military affairs tell us about transforming the US Military? (Santa Monica: RAND, 1999), p. 13.

Theodor W. Galdi, Revolution in Military Affairs? (CRS 951170F, 11 December 6

Gray, Recognizing and Understanding Revolutionary Change, p. 3.

The term "new theory of victory" is borrowed from Stephen Peter Rosen, Winning the Next War: Innovation and the Modern Military (Ithaca: Cornell UP, 1994), p. 20.

Michael G. Vickers and Robert C. Martinage, The Revolution in War (Washington, D.C.: Center for Strategic and Budgetary Assessments, 2004), p. 7.

rear areas have disappeared; the number of platforms has become far less important than networks and communications; military planning, under the umbrella concept of "effect-based operations", aims at defined effects rather than attrition of enemy forces or occupation of territory; instead of massive forces, precise fire is maneuvered; the sensor-to-shooter loops have been shortened considerably; the role of stand-off and airpower capabilities has increased at the expense of heavy ground formations; a far smaller, lighter and more mobile force can operate at a greater range and with greater precision and lethality than at any time before in human history.<sup>10</sup>

The roots of the IT-RMA can be traced to the mid-1970s, when the West capitalized on scientific-technological developments to neutralize the threat posed by Soviet second echelons. However, the cultivation of the technological seeds of the American RMA preceded the maturation of the conceptual ones. Although it was the US that was laying the technological groundwork for the RMA, Soviet, rather than American military theorists, were the first to argue that the new range of technological innovations constituted a fundamental discontinuity in the nature of war, which they dubbed the military-technical revolution. The Soviet military had a fuller comprehension of the revolutionary impact that the Air-Land Battle (ALB) and Follow-On Forces Attack (FOFA) arsenals would have on the future battlefield than did the US military.<sup>11</sup> About a decade later, this fundamental Soviet approach to the transformations in military affairs was analyzed, adapted and adopted by the US, and designated the RMA. In other words, the US developed technology and weaponry for about a decade without realizing their revolutionary implications. No attempt to re-conceptualize the existing paradigm about the nature of warfare in futuristic terms was made by the US in those years. Not until Andrew Marshall and his colleagues introduced the notion of the RMA did this conceptual innovation reach the consciousness of the American military and defense establishment. 12

Eliot A. Cohen, "Change and Transformation in Military Affairs", Journal of Strategic Studies, vol. 27, no. 3 (September 2004); Avi Kober, "Does the Iraq War Reflect a Phase Change in Warfare?" Defense and Security Analyses, vol. 21, no. 2 (2005): 121–142. For an overview of the RMA, see Project of Defense Alternatives web site.

<sup>11</sup> Jeffrey McKitrick, "The Revolution in Military Affairs", in *Battlefield of the Future:* 21st Century Warfare Issues, eds Barry R. Schneider and Lawrence E. Grinter (Maxwell AFB, Ala.: Air UP, September 1995).

<sup>12</sup> Andrew W. Marshall, Director of Net Assessment, Some Thoughts on Military Revolutions – Second Version (Washington DC.: Office of the Secretary of Defense, 23 August 1993), p. 1.

The 1990 Gulf War offered for the first time a glimpse of the revolutionary potential embodied in these various combat capabilities provided by information technology. Nearly a decade later, in 1999, Allied operations in Kosovo reinforced the value of what is known as information warfare for future military campaigns. Operations in Afghanistan and Iraq in 2001 and 2003 provided additional evidence that a revolution in conventional warfare was well underway. Several scholars of strategic studies, most notably Stephen Biddle, seriously challenge this assumption. Although this is an important discussion, this monograph deliberately refrains from analyzing the question of whether the process described actually represents revolutionary discontinuity in modern warfare.

# The Impact of Cultural Factors on Military Innovations

Scholars of revolutions in military affairs maintain that innovation depends as much upon developing or gaining access to the requisite technologies, as on restructuring concepts and organizations. In the last two processes social and cultural factors are critical. Consequently, a body of literature about the impact of cultural factors on military innovations provides the most relevant answers to the questions posed in this monograph.

Chronologically, "strategic culture" literature came in three waves. <sup>15</sup> The first generation of scholarship emerged in the late 1970s to early 1980s and focused mainly on the link between national political and military cultures, and the strategic choices that countries made. The literature argued that a deeply rooted set of beliefs and a nation's formative historical experiences create its distinct mode of strategic thinking and particular attitude toward security affairs. Scholars started to address differences in strategic behavior as products of different cultural contexts. The notion that different security communities might think in different ways about the same strategic

<sup>13</sup> Vickers and Martinage, The Revolution in War, p. 14.

Stephen Biddle, Military Power: Explaining Victory and Defeat in Modern Battle (Princeton UP 2004) and the special issue of the Journal of Strategic Studies, vol. 28, no. 3 (June 2005). Also see: Stephen Biddle, "Speed Kills? Reassessing the role of speed, precision, and situation awareness in the Fall of Saddam", Journal of Strategic Studies, vol. 30, no. 1 (February 2008): 3–46.

<sup>15</sup> Jeffrey S. Lantis, "Strategic Culture: from Clausewitz to Constructivism", Strategic Insights, vol. IV, issue 10 (October 2005).

matters began to gain acceptance. Empirically, the literature concentrated mostly on the distinctive national styles in the superpowers' grand-strategy making and on the cultural roots of the nuclear doctrines of the USA and the USSR. The discussion about the cultural impact on national security policy was introduced to the International Relations (IR) under the rubric of "strategic culture". 16

The second wave of literature came in the early 1990s. The proponents of the theory sought to prove through a variety of case studies that strategic culture constituted the milieu within which strategy was debated. They presented strategic culture as an independent determinate of security policy patterns and consequently as an independent variable for research. Scholars argued that if not ultimately driven by the parameters of strategic culture, national security policy had deep cultural underpinnings.<sup>17</sup> The second wave is also famous for its methodological debates. The skeptics had asserted that the operational definition of strategic culture, as had been offered by theoretical pioneers of the first generation, was methodologically problematic. The critics claimed that analytical models of strategic culture were frequently tautological, because they did not provide a clear separation of dependent and independent variables. The literature of this period sought methodology for identifying distinctive national cultures, characters and styles and thus make the discipline less opaque, vague and simplistic. 18

The third generation of scholarship is related to the mid-1990s and was brought on the wave of rising constructivism. Consequently, after having fallen into disfavor around the end of the Cold War, the-

Works from the first generation include: Jack Snyder, The Soviet Strategic Culture: Implications for Nuclear Options (Santa Monica, Calif.: Rand Corporation, 1977); Ken Booth, Strategy and Ethnocentrism (New York: Holmes and Meier, 1981); Colin Gray, "National Style in Strategy: The American Example", International Security, vol. 6, no. 2 (fall 1981): 35–37; id., The Geopolitics of Superpower (Lexington, Kentucky: University Press of Kentucky, 1988), pp. 42–43; id., War, Peace and Victory: Strategy and Statecraft for the Next Century, (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1990); Carl Jacobson, Strategic Power: USA/USSR (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1990)

<sup>17</sup> Yitzhak Klein, "A Theory of Strategic Culture", Comparative Strategy, vol. 10, no. 1 (1991): 3. See also Richard W. Wilson, Compliance Ideologies: Rethinking Political Culture (New York: Cambridge University Press, 1992); Charles A. Kupchan, The Vulnerability of Empire (Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press, 1994).

<sup>18</sup> The second generation's famous theoretical debate is an exchange between Iain Johnsoton and Colin Gray on the question of whether "strategic culture" is a cause or a context of behavior. Alastair Iain Johnston, "Thinking about Strategic Culture", International Security, vol. 19, no. 4 (spring 1995): 32–64; id., "Cultural realism and Strategy in Maoist China", in The Culture of National Security: Norms and Identity in World Politics, ed. Peter J. Katzenstein (Columbia, NY, Columbia University Press, 1996); Colin Gray, "Strategic Culture as Context: The First Generation of Theory Strikes Back", Review of International Studies, vol. 25 (1995).

oretical work on the cultural foundations of strategic behavior picked up again significantly. The constructivist research program, which emphasized the ideational construction of international politics, naturally became the intellectual ally of the proponents of strategic culture theories. Constructivists saw state identities and interests as socially constructed by knowledgeable practice. According to the scholars of constructivism, subjective normative beliefs about the world define actors, their situations, and the possibilities of action. Constructivist research devoted particular attention to identity formation, the organizational process, history, tradition, and culture, and provided a far more complex and nuanced picture of international security. It took researchers of security studies deeper within states, military organizations, and the process of producing new technology, to account for the role of culture and norms. 19 Constructivism views culture as a synthesis of meaning that governs perceptions, communications, and actions, in both the short and long-term. Ideational meanings define the situation, articulate motives, and formulate a strategy for success. 20 Though the tendency to address the impact of domestic politics on foreign policy was already familiar to the academic world, constructivists were the first to frame it as a coherent paradigm to counterbalance the traditional neorealist approach to security studies. Constructivism laid the theoretical and methodological groundwork for scholars interested in a cultural approach to international security studies.<sup>21</sup>

19 Alexander Wendt, "Anarchy is What States Make of It: The Social Construction of Power Politics", International Organization, vol. 46, no. 2 (spring 1992); id., "Constructing International Politics", International Security, vol. 20, no. 1 (1995); Peter J. Katzenstein, Robert O. Keohane, and Stephen Krasner, "International Organization and the Study of World Politics", International Organization, vol. 52, no. 4 (1998); Ted Hopf, "The Promise of Constructivism in International Relations", International Security, vol. 23, no. 1 (Summer 1998), p. 914; Jeffrey W. Legro, "Culture and Preferences in the International cooperation Two-Step", American Political Science Review, vol. 90, no. 1 (March 1996): 118-137.

<sup>20</sup> Valerie M. Hudson, ed., Culture and Foreign Policy (Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 1997).

<sup>21</sup> Peter J. Katzenstein, ed., The Culture of National Security: Norms and Identity in World Politics (Columbia, NY, Columbia University Press, 1996); Jeffrey W. Legro, Cooperation under Fire: Anglo-German Restraint during World War II (Ithaca, NY. Cornell UP, 1995); Peter J. Katzenstein, Cultural Norms and National Security: Police and Military in Postwar Japan (Ithaca, NY.: Cornell UP, 1996); Alastair Iain Johnston, Cultural Realism: Strategic Culture and Grand Strategy in Chinese History (Princeton, NJ.: Princeton UP, 1995); Stephen Peter Rosen, Societies and Military Power: India and its Armies (Ithaca NY.: Cornell University Press, 1996); Elizabeth Kier, Imagining War: French and British Military Doctrine between the Wars (Princeton, NJ.: Princeton UP, 1997); Ken Booth and Russell Trood, eds, Strategic Cultures in the Asia-Pacific Region (London: Macmillan Press, 1999).

In the last decade, a growing interest in ideational explanations of states' strategic behavior resulted in numerous studies of a variety of empirical and theoretical topics. These works, conducted under the umbrella concept of "strategic culture", feature different levels of analysis, but all appeal to socially, culturally and ideationally independent variables to explain strategic and military behavior. A number of proponents of the cultural approach to IR sought to inquire into the ideational and cultural foundations of states' foreign and defense policy. They concentrated on the interrelation between norms, culture and strategic behavior and shared a theoretical assumption characterized by Colin Gray: "the security community is likely to think and behave in ways that are influenced by what it has taught itself about itself."22 Other scholars focus on domestic social structures to explain particular national styles in strategic affairs. <sup>23</sup> The renewed interest in organizational analysis in security studies led to an appreciation of the inter-state level and concretely to focusing on "figuring out the fighting organizations."24 Scholars paid considerable attention to the linkage between the nature of the organization and the military innovation it produced.<sup>25</sup> Still at the intrastate level, certain scholars tended to concentrate less on the impact of organizational interests than on the influence ideas spread on generating military power. The constructivist approach attempts to understand how the cultural identities of specific nations shape military doctrines.<sup>26</sup> Attention was also paid to the intellectual dynamics and adaptive learning between

<sup>22</sup> Colin Gray, Out of the Wilderness: Prime Time for Strategic Culture, (Defense Threat Reduction Agency, 2006), p. 5; Ronald L. Jepperson, Peter J. Katzenstein, Alexander Wendt, "Norms, Identity and Culture in National Security", in Katzenstein ed., The Culture of National Security, pp. 54–55; Katzenstein, Cultural Norms, pp. 17–20; Theo Farrell, The Norms of War: Cultural Beliefs and Modern Conflict (London: Lynne Reinner Publishers, 2005); id. The Sources of Military Change: Culture, Politics, Technology (London: Lynne Reinner Publishers, 2002); id., "Transnational Norms and Military Development", European Journal of International Relations, (2002); "World Culture and Military Power", Security Studies (2005).

Stephen Peter Rosen, "Military Effectiveness: Why Society Matters", International Security, vol. 19, no. 4 (1995): 5-31; id. Societies and Military Power; Matthew Evangelsita, Innovation and Arms Race: How the United States and the Soviet Union Develop New Military Technologies (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1988); Thomas U. Berger, Cultures of Antimilitarism: National Security in Germany and Japan (Baltimore, Maryland: Johns Hopkins UP, 1998); id., "From Sword to Chrysanthemum: Japan's Culture of Anti-militarism", International Security, vol. 17, no. 4 (spring 1993): 119-150; Thomas Banchoff, The German Problem Transformed: Institutions, Politics, and Foreign Policy, 1945-1995 (Ann Arbor, Mich.: The University of Michigan Press, 1999). Michael Eisenstadt and Kenneth Pollack, "Armies of Snow and Armies of Sand: The Impact of Soviet Military Doctrine on Arab Militaries", in Goldman and Elliason.

<sup>24</sup> Theo Farrell, "Figuring out Fighting Organizations: The New Organizational Analysis in Strategic Studies", Journal of Strategic Studies, vol. 19, no. 1 (1996): 122–135.

institutions from different states which influence the preferred paths of strategic behavior.<sup>27</sup>

This monograph further elaborates on the most recent scholarly definition of "strategic culture", which views it as a set of shared formal and informal beliefs, assumptions, and modes of behavior, derived from common experiences and accepted narratives (both oral and written), that shape collective identity and relationships to other groups, and which determine appropriate ends and means for achieving security objectives.<sup>28</sup>

25 Kimberly Martin Zisk, Engaging the Enemy: organizational theory and Soviet Military Innovation (Princeton NJ.: Princeton UP, 1993); Lergo, Cooperation Under Fire; Lynn Eden, Whole World on Fire: Organizations, Knowledge and Nuclear Weapons Devastation (Ithaca: Cornell UP, 2004); Deborah Avant, Political Institutions and Military Change: Lessons from Peripheral Wars (Ithaca: Cornell UP, 1994).

-

<sup>26</sup> Elizabeth Kier, "Culture and Military Doctrine: France Between the Wars", International Security, vol. 19, no. 4 (spring 1995): 65–93; for the cultural influences on doctrinal developments see id., Imagining War: French and British Military Doctrine Between the Wars (Princeton, N.J.: Princeton UP,1997); Alastair I. Johnston, Cultural Realism: Strategic Culture and Grand Strategy in Chinese History (Princeton NJ.: Princeton UP, 1995); Thomas G. Mahnken, Uncovering Ways of War: US Intelligence and Foreign Military Innovation, 1918–1941 (Ithaca, NY: Cornell UP 2002).

<sup>27</sup> Goldman and Eliason, Diffusion of Military Technology and Ideas; Emily Goldman and Thomas Mahnken, The Information Revolution in Military Affairs in Asia (New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2004)

<sup>28</sup> Jeffrey Larsen, Comparative Strategic Cultures Curriculum: Assessing Strategic Culture as a Methodological Approach to Understanding WMD Decision Making by States and Non States Actors (Defense Threat Reduction Agency, 2006); for a comparison of all existing scholarly definitions of "strategic culture", see Lawrence Sondhause, Strategic Cultures and Ways of War (London: Routledge, 2006), pp. 123–125.

# An Amercian Revolution in Military Affairs

## Technological, Doctrinal and Conceptual Preconditions of the American RMA

In the mid-1970s the US army became cognizant of the Soviet technique of the echelonment of forces combined with a high-speed offensive, and realized that in their current state, their defenses could not stand up to the challenge. The ALB and FOFA concepts grew out of this fear of Soviet conventional superiority afforded by the echelonment technique. The West sought a remedy and found it in emerging technologies. Since the mid-1970s, highly advanced technological achievements particularly in the field of microprocessors, computers, lasers and electronics, had enabled the production of "smart weapons" – an assortment of conventional munitions that were precision-guided to targets – even at a stand-off over the horizon ranges. The combination of range and accuracy resulted in a new warfare mission: to strike deep against enemy offensive follow-on forces. Developments in weapons technology and the evolution of thought about future war in Europe led to similar innovations in the US and NATO. Both ALB and FOFA rested on the premise that follow-on echelons of Soviet ground forces had to be slowed or stopped before arriving at the line of contact. Attacking the second echelons, disrupting their movement or destroying them, and degrading their command-and-control, became the overriding aim of US tactics and weapons development.<sup>29</sup>

According to William Owens, a technological prequel to the American RMA should be associated with the Pentagon officials who began in the late 1970s to think about the application of technology in military affairs and to formulate the "offset strategy". <sup>30</sup> Secretary of Defense Harold Brown's main focus was to devise a program by which the US and NATO allies could use technological superiority to neutralize the

overwhelming advantage in the size of their conventional forces that the Soviet Union and its fellow Warsaw Pact members had over NATO forces in Europe.<sup>31</sup> William Perry, Undersecretary of Defense for Research and Engineering, who was responsible for the development of the capabilities for the "offset option", stated in 1978:

Precision-guided weapons, I believe, have the potential for revolutionizing warfare. More importantly, if we effectively exploit the lead we have in this field, we can greatly enhance our ability to deter war without having to compete tank for tank, missile for missile, with the Soviets. We will effectively shift the competition to a technological area where we have a fundamental long term advantage [my emphasis]. 32

Although in retrospect, Perry claimed that the offset strategy was more than just a plan to exploit high technology for its own sake, the primary objective of the defense establishment was to use "high technology" to build better weaponry systems than those of the Soviet Union.<sup>33</sup>

The offset strategy was pursued by five administrations during the 1970s and 1980s.<sup>34</sup> As Tomes indicates, the means of precision strike, intelligence and communication - the capabilities on which the concepts of the American RMA would later be built - matured technologically in various projects starting in the late 1970s of the Defense Advanced Research Project Agency (DARPA).<sup>35</sup> The DARPA allocated its budget to give qualitative advantages to American forces to offset the quantitative superiority the Soviet forces enjoyed in Europe.<sup>36</sup> Some

William E. Odom, The Collapse of the Soviet Military (New Haven, CT: Yale UP 1998), pp. 72–5; id. "Soviet Force Posture: Dilemmas and Directions", Problems of Communism (June-August, 1985): 1–14; V.D. Sokolovskii, Voennaia strategiia (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1962); Richard Van Atta and Michael Lippitz, Transformation and Transition: DARPA's Role in Fostering an Emerging Revolution in Military Affairs (Alexandria, VA: IDA 2003), vol. 2, chs. 3–4; Richard Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy and Army Innovation (New York: Routledge 2006), ch. 4; id. "How to Rethink War: Conceptual Innovation and Air Land Battle Doctrine", Journal of Strategic Studies, vol. 28, no. 4 (August 2005); Kimberly Marten Zisk, Engaging the Enemy, pp. 121–32.

<sup>30</sup> William Owens, Lifting the Fog Of War, (New York: Straus and Giroux, 2000), pp. 81–82.

<sup>31</sup> Robert Tomes, Military Innovation and the Origins of the American Revolution in Military Affairs (PhD dissertation submitted to the Department of Government and Politics, University of Maryland, 2004), pp. 200–208.

<sup>32 &</sup>quot;The objective of our precision guided weapon systems to give us the following capabilities: to be able to see all high value targets on the battlefield at any time; to be able to make a direct hit on any targets we can see; and to be able to destroy any target we can hit." In William Perry's Testimony to the US Senate Armed Services Committee, Hearing on DoD Appropriations for FY1977, in Vickers and Martinage, The Revolution in War, pp. 8–9; also see: Owens, Lifting the Fog Of War, p. 81.

<sup>33</sup> Ibid.

of the coretechnological focuses which shaped research, development and production efforts were: the families of land-, air-, and sea-launched precision-guided and stand-off weapons; command-and-control and automated reconnaissance and target acquisition projects; anti-armor weapons; navigation and guidance devices; stealth technology; unmanned aerial vehicles.<sup>37</sup> In 1978 DARPA integrated research and development of the above mentioned capabilities under one unified project entitled "Assault Breaker". Since the 1980s, the project had also become known as the "Smart Weapons Program". Robert Tomes convincingly defines this period of capabilities developing as the "formation" stage of the RMA.<sup>38</sup>

It is important to state however, that DARPA projects were still far from any conceptual revolution. For the most part, the defense community treated the emerging capabilities as a multiplier of the effectiveness of the existing force, and did not deduce from them any revolutionary implications with regard to the concept of operations, organizational structures or the nature of war in general. <sup>39</sup> Without a deeper understanding of the operational and organizational consequences of the new weaponry, the mere existence of smart weapons and technologies would not produce the revolution in military affairs. Moreover, new weapons systems were produced in compliance with a very mechanical logic - to ensure that the United States was not left behind in the area of new technology. <sup>40</sup> It was not the futuristic vision of military thought that was the driving force behind the innovations, but a linear arms-race logic *vis-à-vis* the Soviet adversary. The offset strategy certainly reflected an

<sup>34</sup> Owens, Lifting the Fog Of War, pp. 82–83. According to Perry, the post-Cold War advances in US military effectiveness were an outgrowth of this strategy. William J. Perry, Preventive Defense: A New Security Strategy for America (Washington, DC: Brookings Institute Press, 1999), pp. 179–180.

<sup>35</sup> Tomes, Military Innovation and the Origins ...

<sup>36</sup> Richard H. Van Atta, Seymour J. Deitchman, and Sidney G. Reed, DARPA Technical Accomplishments, Volume III (Alexandria, VA: Institute for Defense Analyses, 1991), p. II-14; Vickers and Martinage, The Revolution in War, p. 9.

<sup>II-14; Vickers and Martinage, The Revolution in War, p. 9.
Tomes, Military Innovation and the Origins ..., pp. 154–221; Van Atta and Lippitz, pp. 1–56; Vickers and Martinage, The Revolution in War, pp. 8–10; Barry Watts, Six Decades of Guided Munitions and Battle Networks: Progress and Prospects (Washington: CSBA 2007)</sup> 

Tomes, Military Innovation and the Origins ..., pp. 154–215, 225.

<sup>39</sup> William Perry, "Desert Storm and Deterrence", Foreign Affairs, no. 70 (fall 1991):

<sup>40</sup> Paul Dickson, Sputnik: The Shock of the Century (New York: Walker and Company, 2001), p. 194; also see Richard Van Atta and Micahel Lippitz, Transformation and Transition: DARPA's Role in Fostering the Emerging Revolution in Military Affairs (Alexandria VA.: Institute for Defense Analysis, 2003) vol. 1, pp. 1–2. Columba Peoples, "Sputnik and 'skill thinking' revisited: technological determinism in American responses to the Soviet missile threat", Cold War History, vol. 8, issue 1 (February 2008), pp. 55–75.

American way of looking at the world and coping with its problems through its typical way of war. Seeking technological answers to the operational questions of the Central Front reflected a cultural affinity for science and technology. As in many other cases, the challenges to national interests were leveraged by technology. 41

Although ALB laid down the technological and the doctrinal fundaments of the future American RMA, 42 its more important contribution, however, was probably the unprecedented introduction of the operational perspective to American military thought, or what Shimon Naveh defines as the emergence of "operational cognition". 43 In his works on military history, John Erickson convincingly claims that the recognition of the operational level is a requirement in order to "think big" about war. To him, operational art is a means of accommodating technological change to produce new warfare concepts. 44 Consequently, the introduction of an operational perspective became the conceptual precondition for the American RMA.

There tends to be agreement among scholars that American receptivity to operational thinking in the late 1970s was promoted by the poor performance of the US army in Vietnam. 45 Not before the early 1980s, as Lock Pullan shows in his study, did the US armed forces start to make the conceptual leap over to the operation level of thinking, when they embarked on the ALB doctrine. 46 During this "reawakening of American military thought, the operational level of war became a key focus of study and an important consideration in defense planning". 47 In addition to other sources of inspiration, 48 Soviet operational theories

<sup>41</sup> Tomes, Military Innovation and the Origins ..., p. 323.

<sup>42</sup> Ibid., pp. 242, 297 (chps. 4-5); Van Atta, Nunn, and Cook, pp. iv-41;

<sup>43</sup> Naveh, In Pursuit.

<sup>44</sup> It is an instrument for defining future requirements in mobility, firepower, command, communications, control, intelligence and target acquisitions. John Erickson, "The Significance of Operational Art and the Development of Deep Battle", in John Gooch, The Origins of Contemporary Doctrine (Cambereley: Strategic and Combat Studies Institute, 1997), pp. 106-107.

<sup>45</sup> Erickson, John, Soviet Ground Forces: An Operational Assessment (Boulder, CO: Westview, 1986); Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ...; David Glantz, The Evolution of Soviet Operational Art, 1927-1991 (London: Frank Cass, 1995).

<sup>46</sup> Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ...

<sup>47</sup> Tomes, Military Innovation and the Origins ..., pp. 18, 13, 16, 255-256; According to Naveh, this rediscovery of the campaign, the orchestration of theater military activities and planning conventional warfare at the operational level, led to a renaissance in American military thought. Naveh, In Pursuit, pp. 105, 126, 128; Lieutenant General L.D. Holder, deputy commander of the US TRADOC, saw the adoption of operational art as the most important change in army doctrine since World War II. L.D. Holder, "A New Day for Operational Art", in Operational Level of War - Its Art, ed. R.L. Allen (Carlisle Barracks: US Army War College, 1985).

Saul Bronfeld, "Fighting Outnumbered: The Impact of the Yom Kippur War on the U.S. Army", Journal of Military History, vol. 71, no. 2 (April 2007): 465-498.

stimulated more sophisticated and systematic thinking by American theoreticians about the nature of battlefield integration and extension. ALB mirrored many of the developments of Soviet operational theory since the 1920s. <sup>49</sup> This emulation was so apparent that, according to John Erickson, "Generals Svechin and Isserson and Marshall Tukhachevskii, would at once be impressed and flattered, sufficiently so even to overlook the protracted intrusion upon their copyright". <sup>50</sup>

An operational corpus of knowledge facilitates an intellectual climate suitable for systematic thinking about changes in military affairs, indispensable for the diagnostics of any future RMA. Without a broad professional aptitude for operational thinking in the US military, the RMA concepts would have remained untapped. Robert Tomes concludes that the evolution of American military thought within the frames of the ALB, and specifically the introduction of the operational level of thinking, were central to the evolution of the American RMA.<sup>51</sup>

In the late 1970s three seeds of the future American RMA were sown. The key capabilities developed then created the technological quality which in tandem with the sophistication of American military thought and new doctrine produced the fertile soil for launching and realizing a bold defense transformation in 1990s. 52 The ALB demonstrated that the level of American military thinking had become far more sophisticated as it made the transition from sequential annihilation to understanding combat in terms of the broader operational level.<sup>53</sup> However, the offset response consisted of little more than sustaining a technological edge in the face of an armored assault by the Warsaw Pact forces.<sup>54</sup> The corpus of operational knowledge was a solid basis for the development of new ideas, but still inadequate for generating the revolutionary visions of future war. No advances to re-conceptualize the existing paradigm of warfare were made in those years. The precisionguided missiles (PGMs) were seen as just another weapon in the military arsenal. The very community that had developed the weaponry

<sup>49</sup> Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ..., p. 93; Tomes, Military Innovation and the Ori-

According to Erickson, the 1982 FM 100-5, by adopting the principle of equal importance of firepower and maneuver, and by distinguishing tactics from operations, along with its later move toward operational art, was clearly indebted to Soviet military thinking. John Erickson, "The Development of Soviet Military Doctrine", in The Origins of Contemporary Doctrine, ed. John Gooch, occasional no. 30 (Camberley, UK., Strategic and Combat Studies Institute, 1997), pp. 106–107;

Tomes, Military Innovation and the Origins ..., p. 265.

<sup>52</sup> Owens, pp. 82–83.

<sup>53</sup> Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ..., p. 685.

<sup>54</sup> Perry, "Desert Storm and Deterrence".

failed to recognize its potential in future war.<sup>55</sup> Although there were a few academics who foresaw the future in the early 1970s,<sup>56</sup> Knox and Murray claim that the tactical emphasis of the Pentagon's analysts had prevented them from seeing anything revolutionary in the greater accuracy of the guided munitions.<sup>57</sup> To make matters worse, the phase of the technological and conceptual preconditions of the American RMA coincided with the misinterpretation by US intelligence of Soviet military-technical revolution (MTR) concepts.

# The Soviet Theory of the Military-Technical Revolution

Although it was the US that was laying the technological groundwork for the RMA, Soviet, rather than American military theorists, were the first to intellectualize about its long-term consequences. In contrast to the West, which focused on the weapons' narrow implications, the Soviets were pioneers in championing the argument that the new range of technological innovations constituted a fundamental discontinuity, which they dubbed the MTR. Beginning in the late 1970s, the Russians produced a significant number of seminal works on the MTR. They actually predated the West by almost a decade in their realization and elaboration of the revolutionary essence embodied in the military technological shifts of the US and North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO).

Applying the methodology of "forecasting and foreseeing", the Soviets systematically analyzed the emerging technologies in order to identify them as either revolutionary or evolutionary with regard to future conflict. In about the mid-1970s, Soviet military forecasters be-

<sup>55</sup> Barry Watts, "American Air Power", in Williamson Murray, The Emerging Strategic Environment: Challenges of the Twenty-first Century (Westport: Praeger Publishers, 1999), pp. 183–218. For the comprehensive survey of American air power, see: John A. Olsen, John Warden and the Renaissance of American Air Power (Potomac Books, 2007).

<sup>56</sup> In addition to defense intellectuals and people in the US military forces, academics' thoughtful ideas should be also mentioned. See especially the March/April issues of Survival, 1979. Edward Luttwak, "American Style of Warfare and the Military Balance", considered the impact of PGMs on the maneuver/attrition balance; James Digby, "New technology and Super-Power Actions in Remote Contingencies"; considered the impact of new technologies on the power projection; John Mearsheimer, "Precision-Guided Munitions and Conventional Deterrence", considered the impact of PGMs on the defense/offence balance; see also Samuel Huntington, "Conventional Deterrence and Conventional Retaliation in Europe". All above mentioned articles were published in International Security, vol. 8, no. 3 (1983/1984).

<sup>57</sup> MacGregor Knox and Williamson Murray, The Dynamics of Military Revolution, 1300–2050 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001), p. 3; Murphy Donovan, "Startegic Literacy", Air Power Journal (winter 1988).

came engaged in theorizing about the forthcoming MTR, observing that the current phase of military development was characterized by the unprecedented emergence of qualitatively new technologies and revolutionary equipment. Under the conceptual guidance of the Chief of the General Staff Marshall Nikolai Ogarkov, Soviet military theoreticians argued that state-of-the art conventional technology, which made it possible to "see and strike deep" with high precision on the future battlefield, and the organizational changes which had to be made to accommodate this emerging weaponry, would not constitute a phase in a process of evolutionary adaptation but a genuine discontinuity in military affairs.

The Soviet analysts carefully monitored US and NATO technological advances (moving-target indication radar, stand-off missiles and terminally guided munitions) and doctrinal innovations (ALB and FO-FA). They placed these innovations in a much deeper and broader context, reflecting a far more profound grasp of the implications of these developments than the West itself possessed. The Soviets saw ALB and FOFA as much more than simply a doctrinal update or an operational threat and sought broader theoretical frames of analysis in order to describe these developments. The Soviets believed that the emerging technologies could potentially extend the depths to which future systems – both sensor technologies and means of fire – would operate. In their eyes, the ability to "see and to strike" through the entire depth, precisely and simultaneously, represented a yawning discontinuity which had significant ramifications in terms of the methods of employing corps and armies, and which would shape the nature of war in a revolutionary way.

The search for a countermeasure to the Western response to the echelonment technique provided the Soviets with a frame of reference and intellectual fuel for the debate about the MTR – a conceptualization by Soviet military theoreticians of the changing nature of warfare under the impact of emerging technologies. This intellectual fuel was much more than just a regular countermeasure to the West. Both approaches capitalized on the notion of *deep battle* using the latest technologies. However in terms of "military thought" the Soviet reply went further in its conceptual findings, and was more revolutionary than its Western trigger. Beginning in the late 1970s, the Soviets started to develop doctrines and concepts of operations which accompanied the introduction

of these new means of combat to the tactical, operational and strategic levels.

At the level of strategic policy management the MTR made nuclear war a less desirable option in the eyes of Soviet strategists and shifted the equilibrium toward conventional confrontation. The Soviets were convinced that conventional PGMs, in combination with the timely detection of targets, were becoming so accurate, destructive and extensive in their range, that they were approaching the effectiveness of tactical nuclear weapons. On the doctrinal level, analyzing the introduction of high-accuracy systems, and particularly the depths to which these systems were capable of operating, the Soviets declared that the line which had divided combat into offensive and defensive was increasingly disappearing, since these two forms of conducting war were making use of the same weapons to attain their operational goals.

At the operational and tactical levels, the concept of the Soviet MTR-era operations coalesced into the notion of a simultaneous, uninterrupted strike by fire and maneuver against the enemy to the entire depth of his operational formation. This conclusion resulted in the development of two interrelated operational concepts: (1) the reconnaissance strike (RUK) and fire (ROK) complexes and (2) Operational Maneuvering Groups (OMG). RUK and ROK were operational architectures which consolidated the reconnaissance systems with high precision, fire-destruction elements, linked through the command-andcontrol channels. The quintessence of that ability was a "system of systems" which was to consist of an integrated triad of (1) ground, air, and space reconnaissance, surveillance, and target acquisition assets; (2) direct fire elements and deep-strike weaponry; and (3) advanced command-and-control that ensured the delivery of strikes close to real time. The manifestation of the new concept on the operational level was dubbed the reconnaissance strike complex (RUK) and its tactical expression known as the reconnaissance fire complex (ROK). The OMG concept committed part of the force much earlier and deeper across the front to avoid an ALB and FOFA attack, thus executing a Soviet preventive blow to NATO's rear. Swift infiltration of a group of armored divisions through several axes, would create a deep and dynamic center of gravity in NATO's rear. It would turn over the defense, create operational shock to command-and-control, paralyze the enemy's ability to react and would result in operational chaos and disorganization. OMG was a reworked version of the WWII mobile-group concept, when autonomous armor formations, using stealth and mobility, infiltrated into the enemy's operational rear and, using shock and firepower, created command-and-control chaos from within. At the later stage of concept development, the coordination between ROK/RUK and OMG resulted in their eventual organic unification under the term of the Reconnaissance-Fire Group. In theory, intelligence assets, stand-off fire capabilities and maneuvering elements of the extended battlefield should be orchestrated as an integrated whole.

While positing the doctrinal response to Western "deep-striking" capabilities, the Soviets went far beyond any particular doctrinal countermeasure and offered a new, comprehensive theory regarding the future battlefield under the impact of scientific-technological progress. One may argue that the Soviet futuristic vision of operational maneuvering groups operating on the future battlefield as an orchestrated whole with reconnaissance strike/fire complexes and synchronized by command-and-control systems may be seen as the conceptual twin of what would be termed in the American RMA a dominating maneuver under the precision strike, executed in accordance with the principles of network-centric warfare. <sup>58</sup>

# American intelligence and the assessment of the Soviet MTR

The American defense community's disregard for the emerging change in the military regimes lasted for about a decade. This inattention is particular striking in light of the wealth of information accumulated by US intelligence about Soviet theoretical writings on the MTR.

In its analysis of the Soviet perception of Western military capabilities, US intelligence detected at a very early stage, and with a high level of accuracy, the new direction of military thought which was evolving in Soviet military circles. By the mid-1970s, the US had developed a general understanding of the mechanisms of the way in which the Soviets developed their military thought; exercises to test theoretical propositions were performed and doctrinal discussions and scientific conferences were held.<sup>59</sup> The intelligence community translated and

<sup>58</sup> Dima P. Adamsky, "Through the Looking Glass: The Soviet Military Technical Revolution and the American Revolution in Military Affairs", *Journal of Strategic Studies*, vol. 31, no. 2 (2008): 262–275.

disseminated Soviet writings on military thought, doctrine, strategy and operational concepts to make important information easily available across the services. <sup>60</sup> The CIA had at its disposal a considerable amount of open Soviet sources which reflected the intellectual debate about the emerging MTR and its implications for the Soviet vision of future war. <sup>61</sup> These sources, which included translations of the classified journal *Voennaia Mysl*" [Military Thought], shed a great deal of light on the term "military-technical revolution" within the context of Soviet military thinking at the time. <sup>62</sup> In 1974, the seminal work *Scientific-Technical Progress and the Revolution in Military Affairs*, was translated and disseminated by the CIA. <sup>63</sup> In 1981, a special report was dedicated to the Soviet methodology of "forecasting military affairs", which inquired into the nature of the paradigmatic changes in the nature of war and into the essence of the current MTR in particular. <sup>64</sup>

From the late 1970s, US intelligence closely monitored the growing Soviet interest in microelectronics, computers and signal processing, and Moscow's continuous efforts to acquire them by both legal and clandestine means. The CIA reported conspicuous Soviet concern with regard to the technological lag vis-à-vis NATO, particularly in key technologies which provided precision weaponry capabilities. The analysts argued that the Soviet search for technologies was a necessary starting point in the implementation phase of the MTR decreed by the Soviet Chief of Staff. They estimated that the Russians intended to use the MTR concepts, and especially PGM, in order to change the total force structure and combat potential of Soviet forces. The "smart" precision-guided munitions, which the Soviet military reckoned would al-

59 National Foreign Assessment Center, SR 79-10338X, Soviet Military Theory: Structure and Significance, October 1979; CIA FOIA Electronic Reading Room [hereafter ERR]; p. 6.

<sup>60</sup> Deputy for National Intelligence Officers, to Assistant Chief of Staff/Intelligence, Department of the Air Force, Soviet Military Thought, 17 May 1974; Deputy to the DCI for Collection Tasking to Director of Central intelligence, Possible Reductions of Air Force Translation of Soviet Documents, 21 August 1978; Gen James Brown, Asst Chief of Staff, Intelligence, Department of the Air Force, to Director, Central Intelligence, USAF Efforts in the Filed of Literature Intelligence, 21 November 1977, The U.S. National Archives and Records Administration [hereafter NA].

<sup>61</sup> FBIS, War and the Army: A Philosophical and Sociological Study, edited by D.A. Volkogonov, A.S. Milovidov and S.A. Tyushkevich, JPRS L/9649, 7 April 1981, pp. 1–7, 16–17, 21, 24, 136, 141, 148, 167–171; FBIS, Methodology of Military Scientific Cognition, JPRS 1/8213, 11 January 1979, pp. 12–29; NA.

<sup>62</sup> US Joint Publications Research Service, Translations on USSR Military Affairs: Basic Military Training, FOUO 11/79/ JPRS L/8421, 25 April 1979. For the reference to the MTR see especially pp. 33–34 and 222; FBIS, Translations from Voyennaia Mysl", no. 12, 1971, FPD 0003/73, 17 January 1974, pp. 87–88; FBIS, Translations From Voyennaya Mysl", no. 10, 1971, FPD 0008/74, 11 February 1974, page 6; FBIS, Translations From Voyennaya Mysl", no. 7, 1971, FPD 0014/74, 7 March 1974, pp. 1–3, 6; NA.

ter the nature of war, relied on a variety of technologies in the field of microprocessors and computers, and consequently their acquisition became a more urgent necessity. <sup>68</sup>

On the heels of monitoring the Soviet quest for advanced technology, US intelligence soon began to arrive at the operational essence of the MTR - Soviet experimentation with reconnaissance strike and fire complexes. Discussing Soviet conventional doctrine, the CIA understood that the Soviets considered conventional weapons so accurate, lethal and destructive as to approach the potential of nuclear munitions. <sup>69</sup> A series of CIA estimates from the early 1980s refer to reconnaissance strike organizations (RSO), which had been developed out of the Soviet concern for the threat posed by the "Assault Breaker", precision-guided, deep-striking, theater-level systems, capable of firing on moving follow-on Soviet echelons. The Assault Breaker, designated by the Soviets as ROK, and envisioned as a pivot of conventional theater operation, was the 1978 DARPA project which leveraged emerging technology to foster significant change in command-and-control capabilities, mobility, armor, night-fighting, massed firepower and precision stand-off fire. It focused on the development of sensors, computing, communications guidance and munitions to allow a deep strike against hard, mobile targets. 70 According to the same estimates, the RSOs were a further expression of the new MTR concept of integrated, deep, simultaneous fire destruction of the enemy. The analysts grasped that the Soviet RSOs consisted of an integrated triad of reconnaissance and target acquisition complexes, automated command-and-control elements and long-range striking systems. They correctly attributed the ROK and RUK to the operational

<sup>63</sup> ACS/AF/Intelligence to Deputy for National Intelligence Officers, "Soviet Military Thought" Translation Series, 13 May 1974; NA.

<sup>64</sup> FBIS/USSR Report/Military Affairs, Military Science, Theory, Strategy: Forecasting in Military Affairs, vol. 6, 1978, FOUO 1/1981, 26 March 1981, pp. 1–6; FBIS/Translations on USSR Military Affairs, Sociological Study of the Soviet Military Engineer, FOUO 3/79; especially 396 and 408; NA.

<sup>65</sup> National Foreign Assessment Center, SR 81-18935X, "The Development of Soviet Military Power: Trends Since 1965 and Prospects for the 1980s", 13 April 1981, p. 67; ERR. Nikolai Pushkarev, GRU: Vymysly i real 'nost' – spetsluzhba voennoi razvedki (Moscow: Eksmo, 2004), pp. 121–7; Ivan Potapov, "Ot Khrushchiova do Gorbacheva", KZ, 11 February, 2006.

<sup>66</sup> National Foreign Assessment Center, SR 81-18935X, "The Development of Soviet Military Power: Trends Since 1965 and Prospects for the 1980s", 13 April 1981, pp. 67–69; and Central Intelligence Agency Directorate of Intelligence, SW-86 20026DX, Soviet Artillery Precision —Guided Munitions: A Conventional Weapons Initiative, September 1986; Special National Intelligence Estimate, Soviet Acquisition of Military Significant Western Technology, September 1985; ERR.

<sup>67</sup> Directorate of Intelligence, SOV 84-10173, Soviet Ground Forces Trends, 1 October 1984, pp. 19–20. and National Intelligence estimate, NIE 11-14-79, Warsaw Pact Forces Opposite NATO, 31 January 1979, p. 78; ERR.

(army) and to the tactical (division) levels and envisioned them as the main trend in future Soviet force development.<sup>71</sup>

In the late 1980s the CIA reported that since the 1970s the Soviets, motivated by the need to counter NATO deep-attack, high-technology conventional weapons and extended battlefield concepts, had been able to match NATO capabilities in nearly every major ground-forces weapons category. Discussing the Soviet conventional doctrine, the CIA acknowledged Soviet declarations regarding their perception of the virtual parity of conventional vs nuclear weapons. The CIA report argued that military advantages afforded to the USSR by its numerical supremacy might be mitigated by Western progress in advancedtechnology conventional weapons, especially long-range PGMs.<sup>72</sup> Toward the end of the Cold War, the CIA attained additional clarification of the Soviet doctrinal vision. It reckoned that the outcome of the future war would be determined mainly by a massed strike of conventional PGMs linked to real-time reconnaissance systems and complementary ground maneuver rather than by masses of tanks, infantry and artillery.73

However, in forecasting the development of Soviet military power for the 1980s, US intelligence concluded with an assessment which minimized the overall implications of the Soviet innovation. US intelligence predicted that if current trends continued,

new technology, whether developed or illegally acquired, was expected to lead to evolutionary improvements in individual systems. However, not one of these technological developments or even their combination in the foreseeable future was expected to revolutionize modern warfare.<sup>74</sup>

\_

<sup>68</sup> Central Intelligence Agency Directorate of Intelligence, SW 86-10062, Soviet Microelectronics: Impact of Western Technology Acquisitions, December 1986; and National Intelligence Estimate, NIE 11-12-83, Prospects for Soviet Military Technology and Research and Development, 14 December 1983; ERR.

<sup>69</sup> Director of Central Intelligence, Trends and Development in Warsaw pact Theater Forces and Doctrine Through the 1990s, NIE 11-14-89, February 1989; ERR.

<sup>70</sup> Richard Van Atta, Jack Nunn, and Alethia Cook, "Assault Breaker" in DARPA Technical Accomplishments, Volume 2 – Detailed Assessments, Richard H. Van Atta et al (Alexandria, VA: Institute for Defense Analyses, November 2003, P-3698), p. IV–14.

<sup>71</sup> Directorate of Central Intelligence, NiE 11/20-6-84, Warsaw Pact Non-nuclear Threat to NATO Airbases in Central Europe, 25 October 1984; pp. 41–42; and National Intelligence Estimate, NIE 11-14-85/D, Trends and Developments in Warsaw pact Theater Forces, 1985–2000, September 1985, pp. 9–13, 29–33; ERR.

<sup>72</sup> Director of Central Intelligence, Trends and Development in Warsaw pact Theater Forces and Doctrine Through the 1990s, NIE 11-14-89, February 1989;

<sup>73</sup> Maj.Gen. Shlipchenko, cited in the CIA Directorate of Intelligence, The USSR: Initial Military Reaction to the Desert Storm, 26 February 1990, p. 3; ERR.

Similarly, while discussing Soviet writings on the MTR and RUK concept during the early 1980s, senior Department of Defence (DoD) officials treated the issue according to arms-race Cold War logic: if the notion of what the Soviets termed Western "reconnaissance-strike capabilities" caused a certain strategic discomfort in Moscow, then the US should expand its investment in this area. This logic was consistent with various administrations' efforts - among them economic ones - to neutralize Soviet influence, to place them at a competitive disadvantage and to bring the struggle to an end on American terms.

The wealth of information concerning Soviet views of the discontinuity in military affairs, accompanied by the poverty of comprehension regarding its consequences, was a situation which endured within most of the US defense community for almost a decade. Only a few American analysts, most notably General William Odom, focused on the validity of the MTR and recognized it as more than just another Soviet innovation. Most Soviet watchers in the West, in their analysis of Soviet theoretical writings, were unable to see the forest for the trees of specific technologies and tactical-operational problems.

### The Conceptual Birth of the American RMA

Though there is nospecific date for the birth of the current American RMA, one can designate the period of the late 1980s – early 1990s as the intellectual cradle of the paradigmatic change in American security thought. MacGregor Knox and Williamson Murray contend in their work on the dynamics of military revolutions that Andrew Marshall and his experts within the Office of Net Assessment (ONA) were the first to register the significance of Soviet writings on the MTR and to introduce

<sup>74</sup> National Intelligence estimate, NIE 11-14-79, Warsaw Pact Forces Opposite NATO, 31 January 1979, p. 79; National Foreign Assessment Center, SR 81-18935X, The Development of Soviet Military Power: Trends Since 1965 and Prospects for the 1980s, 13 April 1981, pp. 67-69; ERR.

<sup>75</sup> Statement by Andrew Marshall at CSBA roundtable on future warfare, 12 March 2002, in Vickers and Martinage, The Revolution in War, p. 11; Andrew Marshall, quoted in Andrew F. Krepinevich, The Military-Technical Revolution: A Preliminary Assessment (Washington, DC.: Center for Strategic and Budgetary Assessments, 2002), p. i.

<sup>76</sup> Derek Leebaert, The Fifty-Year Wound: The True Price of America's Cold War Victory (Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 2002), p. 507; Ronald E. Powaski, The Cold War: The United States and the Soviet Union, 1917–1991 (New York: Oxford University Press, 1998), p. 233.

<sup>77</sup> Others include Mary Fitzgerald, Notra Truelock and experts at Andrew Marshall's Office of Net Assessment.

<sup>78</sup> David Arbel and Ran Edelist, Western Intelligence and the Collapse of the Soviet Union, 1980–1990 (London, Frank Cass, 2003).

the notion of the revolutions in military affairs into the American defense community. <sup>79</sup> The Russian sources echo this claim. <sup>80</sup>

Although the technological groundwork for the innovation had been laid down in the 1970s, for the American defense community, the RMA thesis had been nothing but a vague, abstract term, when Andrew Marshall and Andrew Krepinevich first circulated their memorandum on the RMA in the early 1990s. The US armed forces (similar to the British when they first began experimenting with armored and mechanized warfare in the mid-1920s) were not consciously thinking in terms of a revolution. As one scholar has remarked, the US military, like Molière's character in the *Le Bourgeois Gentilhomme*, had been "speaking in prose" (the RMA) but didn't know it.

Indeed, only a small group on the margins of American defense planning in the early 1980s would recognize the approaching RMA.<sup>83</sup> Albert Wohlstetter is generally considered to be the first senior figure within the American defense establishment to understand the dramatic impact of the new accurate weapons on the nature of war. Wohlstetter referred to the phenomenon as "revolution in the accuracies of unmanned weapon systems". 84 Envisioning the first-generation PGMs deployed in the latter stages of the Vietnam War, he realized their potential for the substantial reduction of the inefficiencies and uncertainties that had plagued large-scale industrial-age combat. In the face of what he called the "enormous inertia" of the armed services, Wohlstetter, supported by a few defense intellectuals, campaigned vigorously through the 1980s, to consider more carefully the strategic implications of an expanding family of PGMs. In his view, the "revolution in microelectronics" opened up new vistas for the application of force and an increasingly wider variety of political and operational realities.<sup>85</sup>

It was only at the very end of the Cold War that a genuine interest in Soviet MTR theories gathered momentum in the American defense

<sup>79</sup> Knox and Murray, The Dynamics ..., p. 3.

<sup>80</sup> Sergei Modestov, "Serii Kardinal Pentagona Andrew Marshall – ideolog novoi amerikanskoi revoliutsii v voennom dele", Nezavisimoe Voennoe Obozrenie, no. 4, 14 December 1995.

<sup>81</sup> Knox and Murray, *The Dynamics ...*, p. 4; James Der Derian, *Virtuous War* (Oxford: Westview Press, 2001), pp. 29–32. The Gulf War had an importance similar to that of the battle of Cambrai.

<sup>82</sup> Jeffrey R. Cooper, "Another View of the Revolution in Military Affairs", in *In Athena's Camp*, eds John Arquilla and David Ronfeldt (RAND: National Defense Research Institute, 1997), p. 139, note 39.

<sup>83</sup> Tomes, Military Innovation and the Origins ..., p. 336.

<sup>84</sup> Andrew Bacevich, The New American Militarism (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005), pp. 161–163; Stephen Rosen, "Net Assessment as an Analytical Concept", in Marshall et al., On Not Confusing Ourselves, pp. 283–284.

establishment. The highest point of Wohlstetter's efforts to incline the defense community to re-conceptualize the nature of warfare came in 1987, when he co-chaired with Fred Ikle the Commission on Integrated Long Term Strategy. By this time, it was no longer the standard intelligence analyses of the doctrinal action-reaction dynamic in the European theater which attracted American attention, but the essence of the discussion about the emerging nature of the future security environment. The report discussed the need of extending its studies beyond Cold-War military-balance assessments, even though the USSR was still alive and kicking.86 The commission's report gave credit to American technological advances discussed above such as stand-off PGMs, space, "stealth", radar and targeting capabilities. However, the report stated without hesitation, that whereas the Soviets fully appreciated the implications of these systems on the ways of waging modern warfare, the Pentagon did not. On a more positive note, the Commission declared that if the US awoke to the opportunity at hand, it might acquire a more versatile, discriminating and controlled capability to employ this technology-driven change in war.<sup>87</sup>

To further develop its initial insights, in 1988 the Commission established a working group, co-chaired by Andrew Marshall and Charles Wolf. The group, which included a few select defense intellectuals from the establishment and academia, was entrusted with the task of projecting the likely contours of military competition in the future security environment. The report echoed the findings of its predecessor in stating that the Soviets had identified roughly the same list of technologies as important for future war, but had considered their implications more systematically. It stated further that most, if not all considerations given to this subject in the West had focused too narrowly on the utility of highly accurate, long-range systems for raising the nuclear threshold and enhancing conventional deterrence.<sup>88</sup> According to the Marshall

<sup>85</sup> Ibid.; Albert Wohlstetter, "Threats and Promises of Peace: Europe and America in the New Era", ORBIS vol. 17, no. 4 (winter 1974); id. "Between an Unfree World and None: Increasing Our Choices", Foreign Affairs, vol. 63, no. 5 (Summer 1985); id. "The Political and Military Aims of Offensive and Defensive Innovation", in Fred Hoffman, Albert Wohlstetter, and David Yost, Swords and Shields: NATO, the USSR, and New Choices for Long-Range Offense and Defense (Lexington, Massachusetts, 1987).

<sup>86</sup> Krepinevich, The Military Technical Revolution, pp. i-iv.

Fred C. Ikle and Albert Wohlstetter, Discriminate Deterrence Report of the Commission on Integrated Long Term Strategy (Washington, D.C.:DoD, January 1988), pp. 8, 29,49,65; Bacevich, The New American Militarism, pp. 160–162.
 Note in Marshall Andrew W., and Charles Wolf: "The Future Security Environment",

Note in Marshall Andrew W., and Charles Wolf: "The Future Security Environment", report of the Future Security Environment Working Group, submitted to the Commission on Integrated Long Term Strategy (Washington, D.C.: DoD, October 1988), p. 143.

and Wolf report, rather than merely identifying ways to improve specific systems or perform existing missions, Soviet writings had suggested that the conduct of war would be broadly transformed by a "qualitative leap" in military technologies. The report found that in contrast to the American approach, the Soviet MTR writings tended to focus not on questions of the feasibility, costs, or timing of specific innovations, but rather to assume that families of new technologies would eventually be introduced, and to examine the tactical, operational, and strategic implications of technological trends. The report asserted that the Soviets had envisioned a more distant future than American military experts and conceded that the Russians might be correct in their assessment that the advent of new technologies would revolutionize war. The group concluded that if this were indeed the case, then a transformation in the nature of war would affect American force structures and command practices in some cases more profoundly than the introduction of nuclear weapons.<sup>89</sup>

From the late 1980s, Andrew Marshall eclipsed Wohlstetter as the leading proponent of inquiring into a potentially emerging paradigmatic change in the future security environment. Building upon its work for the above commission, ONA embarked on a more detailed assessment of the Soviet MTR vision starting from 1989. The preliminary lessons from the Gulf War provided further stimulus for this inquiry, as the US sought to conceptualize the new type of warfare seen during Desert Storm. The US specialists claim and the Soviets concur that during the first post-Cold War military campaign, Operation Desert Storm, the allies had successfully executed a perfect version of the Soviet conventional-theater offensive which encapsulated most of the doctrinal principles developed by Soviet military theoreticians within the frames of the MTR. In Ogarkov's view, the most impressive allied capability demonstrated during the war was the ability to conduct a tightly synchronized, integrated joint-operations assault throughout the depth of the operational theater, striking both the enemy's strategic centers of gravity and military forces, in order to produce decisive results. Desert Storm focused US attention on weapons technology and high-tech research, much as Marshal Ogarkov had envisioned ten years prior to the war. 90 The ONA experts had picked up on the writings of the Soviet military and offered an assessment which had two related goals: to iden-

<sup>89</sup> Andrew W. Marshall and Charles Wolf, "The Future Security Environment", pp. 34–35; 40; 42; 64; 69–71.

tify whether or not the Soviet analysts were correct in their conviction that they were witnessing a fundamental discontinuity in military affairs; and second, if a military revolution was indeed on the horizon, to pinpoint critical issues which had to be given a prominent place on the defense management's agenda.<sup>91</sup>

This assessment of the Soviet MTR, which was completed in 1992 (with a more comprehensive assessment a year later), is perhaps the bestknown document prepared by the ONA. The ONA intellectual effort vielded what seemed to be a total consensus that Soviet theorists had been correct since the late 1970s about the character of the emerging MTR. The net assessment confirmed the Soviet postulates which assumed that advanced technologies, especially those related to informatics and precision-guided weaponry employed at extended ranges, were bringing military art to the point of revolution in the nature of warfare. Along with information warfare, the report identified the concept of reconnaissance strike complexes as the main determinant of future warfare. 92 The 1992 and 1993 assessments called for a significant transformation of the American military, not so much in terms of new technologies but rather in operational concepts and organizational innovation. Being more advanced in these two fields was expected to be far more enduring than any advantage in technology or weapons systems. The report underscored the importance of a concept of operations in identifying the most effective weapons. The assessments attributed the highest importance to the investigation of and experimentation with novel concepts of operations and deducing from them a new architecture of military power.<sup>93</sup>

In contrast to the traditional "technology-driven" mentality of the American defense community, Andrew Marshall and his experts emphasized above all the conceptual and doctrinal, rather than the purely

Naveh, In Pursuit, pp. 238 and 330; Stephen J. Blank, The Soviet Military Views of Operation Desert Storm: A Preliminary Assessment (Carlisle Barracks, PA: Strategic Studies Institute, US Army War College, 1991), pp. 31-33; Norman C. Davis, "An Information-Based Revolution in Military Affairs", in In Athena's Camp, John Arquilla and David Ronfeldt (RAND: National Defense Research Institute, 1997), p. 85; Cooper, "Another View of the Revolution ...", p. 124; Edward Felker, Russian Military Doctrinal Reform in Light of Their Analysis of Desert Storm (Alabama: Air University Press, 1995), p. 33; Bacevich, The New American Militarism.

<sup>91</sup> Statement by Andrew Marshall at a CSBA roundtable on future warfare, 12 March, 2002; in Vickers and Martinage, The Revolution in War, p. 12; Krepinevich, The Military Technical Revolution, pp. i-iv.

Michael Horowitz and Stephen Rosen, "Evolution or Revolution?" Journal of Strategic Studies, vol. 28, no. 3 (June 2005): 439-440. Marshall, Some Thoughts on Military Revolutions, pp. 2-4; Krepinevich, The Military Technical Revolution, pp. iii-iv and 5-7; Vickers and Martinage, The Revolution in War, pp. 10-13.

<sup>93</sup> Krepinevich, The Military Technical Revolution, p. 8; Marshall, 1993, pp. 2-4

technological aspects of the RMAs. The memorandum states outright

the most important competition is not the technological competition, although one would clearly want to have superior technology. The most important goal is to be the first, to be the best in the intellectual task of finding the most appropriate innovations in the concept of operations and organizations, to fully exploit the technologies already available and those that will be available in the course of the next decade or so.<sup>94</sup>

The phrase MTR denoted too great an emphasis on technology and therefore an alternative term, *revolution in military affairs*, was adopted. It is interesting to note, that this expression was also borrowed from Soviet military writings on the subject, though ONA experts considered it preferable because it emphasized *revolution* rather than *technology*. According to William Owens, the then Vice Chairman of the JCS, Soviet ideas about the MTR had stirred enough interest among observers of Russia in the West to reduce it to the official Pentagon acronym. "A higher form of praise of Pentagon officials does not exist". The observations about the characteristics of a new military technical revolution were made on the basis of Soviet and Russian insights presented in their writings and personal exchanges with Soviet/Russian specialists during the early 1990s. <sup>97</sup>

Marshall stressed the importance of the peacetime innovation that the US had effected since the early 1990s – a luxury afforded by the Soviet decline. He envisioned the challenges to come, but during the relatively peaceful years that followed, he called for undertaking a more active search for and experimentation with new doctrines. Addressing the implications for strategic management, the assessment called for the

<sup>94</sup> Some Thoughts in Military Revolutions, 1993, p. 2.

<sup>95</sup> Krepinevich, The Military Technical Revolution, p. iv; Cooper, "Another View of the Revolution ...", p. 135, note 1; See for the Soviet "use" of the RMA term: P.M. Derevianko, Revoliutsiia v voennom dele: vchem ee sushchnost'? (Moscow: Ministerstvo Oborony SSSR, 1967); and especially Bondarenko, Sovremennaya voennaia nauka I razvitie voennogo dela (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1976), pp. 109–111; "Nauchno tekhnicheskii progress i voennaia nauka", VM, no. 2 (1970): 27–39; Cherednichenko, "Nauchno tekhnicheskii progress i razvitie vooruzhenia i voennoi tekhniki", VM, no. 4 (1972): 29–41. Edward Warner, the Assistant Secretary of Defense for Strategy and Threat Reduction in June 1993, confirmed that the American definition of a revolution in military affairs was heavily based on Russian or Soviet theoretical concepts, quoted in The U.S. Army Center of Military History, transcript from the Fletcher Conference, 3 November 1999 [online 15 Jul 2008].

<sup>96</sup> Owens, Lifting the Fog Of War, p. 83.

<sup>97</sup> Soviet perspectives on the MTR were presented at the beginning of Krepinevich's assessment as working assumptions which provide a solid ground for developing further knowledge, *The Military-Technical Revolution*, pp. 6–8.

following specific actions: to implement new concepts of operations and organizations through changes in educational programs and changes in acquisition and creating new promotion paths to train and to promote officers with appropriate skills and expertise. After conducting several historical studies sponsored by ONA, Allan Millett and Williamson Murray concluded that "military institutions that developed organizational cultures where serious learning, study, and intellectual honesty lay at heart of preparation of officers for war, were those best prepared for the challenges that they confronted on the battlefield". 100

The MTR Preliminary Assessment became the intellectual starting point for the future US defense transformation. <sup>101</sup> Andrew Marshall and his proponents succeeded not only in intellectually defending their vision but in actually implementing the notion of the RMA across the US defense community. <sup>102</sup> The evaluation was circulated in the US defense community, initiating the most comprehensive reforms at the DoD since the Vietnam War. <sup>103</sup> A year after the publication of his legendary memorandum, there were five task forces exploring the RMA and its consequences. <sup>104</sup> From the mid-1990s on, the term RMA established itself among specialists as an authoritative frame of reference within which the debate over the future of war unfolded. <sup>105</sup>

<sup>98</sup> Marshall, Some Thoughts on Military Revolutions – Second Version (Washington DC.: Office of the Secretary of Defense, 23 August 1993), pp. 3–6.

<sup>99</sup> Allan R. Millett and Williamson Murray, eds, Military Effectiveness, vol. I, World War I; vol. 2, The Interwar Period; and vol. 3, World War II (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1988); and Williamson Murray and Allan R. Millett (eds.), Military Innovation in the Interwar Period (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1996).

<sup>100</sup> Murray Williamson, "Transformation of Professional Military Education", in National Security Challenges for the 21" Century (US Army War College, 2003), p. 16.

<sup>101</sup> Debra O. Maddrell, Quiet Transformation: The Role of the Office of Net Assessment (National Defense University: The National Security Strategy Process, Research Paper, 2003).

<sup>102</sup> Maddrell, Quiet Transformation.

<sup>103</sup> Krepinevich, The Military Technical Revolution.

<sup>104</sup> Tomes, Military Innovation and the Origins ..., pp. 9-10; Der Derian, Virtuous War, pp. 28-29.

<sup>105</sup> Bacevich, The New American Militarism, pp. 164-166.

## **American Strategic Culture**

# American Way of War: Swift Annihilation and Attrition by Fire Power

The national mission of conquering an entire continent, together with the nation's prolonged frontier experience, left their mark on American strategic culture. 106 The United States developed into a country of unusual dimensions and the scale of its resources has influenced the national security enterprises it has undertaken. 107 As American society grew in size and wealth it also accumulated military power, with no apparent economic or demographic limits. Restrictions on American power were not natural, but rather determined by political and strategic considerations. 108 Almost two-hundred years have passed since the United States faced an enemy with a larger gross national product than its own. American productive capacity, translated into overwhelming material superiority, has played a critical role in the nation's military successes. Its dominance in numerous industrial and technological sectors, in skilled manufacturing and in the ability to increase production capacity, created mere military advantages: a large defense budget, a significant pool of machines for fighting a war and educated manpower capable of operating them. 109 Given the abundant material resources, troops' equipment, and excellent managerial expertise, the United States relied less on perfectly planned and executed strategies to win. 110

<sup>106</sup> Gray, Strategy and History, p. 141; Ira Gruber, "The Anglo-American Military Tradition and the War for American Independence", in Against all Enemies, eds Kenneth J. Hagan, William R. Roberts, (Westport, CT.: Greenwood Press, 1986), pp. 21–46; Ray Allen Billington, America's Frontier Heritage (Albuquerque, NM: University of New Mexico Press, 1986).

<sup>107</sup> Allan R. Millett, "The United States Armed Forces in the Second World War", in Military Effectiveness, vol. 3, The Second World War, eds Millett and Williamson Murray (Boston, 1988), pp. 60–62; 81–84.

<sup>108</sup> John Shy, "Jomini", in Makers of Modern Strategy: From Machiavelli to the Nuclear Age, Peter Paret (Princeton NJ.: Princeton University Press, 1986), pp. 274–275.

<sup>109</sup> Andrew May, The Sources of the U.S. Military Advantage (McLean, Science Applications International Corporation, 2002), pp. 23–24; 60.

Self-efficacy dictates a strategy to shift the conflict into those arenas where one enjoys an inherent advantage over one's enemy. 111 The strategy of attrition and annihilating the enemy with firepower was the best way to transform the nation's material superiority into battlefield effectiveness. 112 The translation of enormous resources into firepower, technology, logistical ability and a consequent inclination for direct attack, date back to the military experience of the American Civil War. This "annihilation by fire" approach has been largely successful throughout American military history. 113 In illustrating this tendency in the country's strategic culture, Eliot Cohen points to two outstanding characteristics of American conduct during the Second World War: a preference for massing a vast array of men and machines, and a preference for direct assaults. 114 According to John Ellis, on the operational level, US generals relied on material superiority, firepower, and overwhelming force rather than on creative maneuvers which would threaten the enemy and force him to surrender. 115 Referring to the American preference for mechanical and industrial solutions, some argue that the United States has often waged logistic, rather than strategic wars. 116

Discussing American strategic culture, Thomas Mahnken defines this preference for an overwhelming blow as taking a "direct approach to strategy over indirect". In his discussion of American strategic culture, he dubs this phenomenon "an industrial approach to war". <sup>117</sup> Echoing this claim, Chester Wilmot argues that the Americans have adhered to the theory that if a military machine was big enough, it could be driven wherever they wanted to go. <sup>118</sup> The conflicts in Korea and Vietnam pro-

- 110 Arms, "Strategic Culture and The American Mind", in Essays on Strategy IX, Thomas C. Gill (Washington DC.: National Defense University, 1993), p. 25; Max Lerner, America as a Civilization (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1957), pp. 910–911; Colin Gray, War, Peace and Victory: Strategy and Statecraft for the Next Century (New York, Simon and Schuster, 1990), p. 354; id., "Strategy in the Nuclear Age: The United States, 1945–1991", in Military Innovation in the Interwar Period, eds Williamson Murray and Allan Millet (New York: Cambridge University Press, 1996), pp. 595–596
- 111 May, The Sources..., pp. 7-8, 16.
- 112 Attrition-style warfare refers to a traditional war-fighting strategy that focuses on seeking out the enemy's military forces, wherever they might be, and then using fire-power to destroy them piece by piece through a process of gradual attrition until the enemy is no longer capable of fighting effectively.
- 113 Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ..., pp. 20–21; Russel Weigley, Eisenbower's lieutenants: the campaign of France and Germany, 1944–1945 (London: Sidgwick & Jackson, 1981), p. 6.
- 114 In many respects, this was a war of mass production, fought by a country that had applied that concept in forging the world's largest and most productive economy. Eliot Cohen, "The strategy of innocence? The United States, 1920–1945", in *The Making of Strategy: Rulers, States, and War*, Williamson Murray (Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 1996), p. 464.
- 115 John Ellis, Brute Force: Allied Strategy and tactics in the Second World War (New York: Viking, 1990), pp. 534–535, xviii; Lock-Pullan, The US Intervention Policy ..., p. 18.

vide further examples of the military doctrine of annihilation and a resource-based approach to warfare. 119 Capitalizing on this industrial approach, the US has often out-produced its enemies in the amount of military power that it was able to generate. 120 Criticizing Weigley's formulation, some scholars have insisted that the American armed forces have pursued a much wider range of strategies beyond pure attrition or annihilation. American military tradition, they argued, is also rich in fighting small wars, insurgencies and developing excellence in deterrence strategies.<sup>121</sup> However, Thomas Mahnken has claimed, even in these cases, a preference for attrition and annihilation "stands up remarkably well as a portrayal of American military strategic culture and the aspirations of the US military." 122 It is most likely for this reason that US strategic culture, which seeks decisive, swift and measurable national-security outcomes, is less at home with stability and support missions, on which swift annihilation by massive firepower is less relevant. 123

### **Astrategic Thinking**

Longstanding American superiority in resources translated into a traditionally low incentive to engage in patient strategic considerations and in thorough operational calculations. 124 Scholars agree that the materially wealthy United States has, throughout its military history, preferred an approach to war based on annihilation and attrition by means of technology and firepower rather than a style of fighting resting on

<sup>116</sup> Martin Gannon, Understanding Global Cultures (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 1994), p. 190; Colin S. Gray, Irregular Enemies and The Essence of Strategy: Can the American Way of War Adapt? (Strategic Studies Institute: US Army War College, 2006), pp. 35-36,45-46; Thomas M. Kane, Military Logistics and Strategic Performance (London: Frank Cass, 2001); Gray in Murray, p. 590.

<sup>117</sup> Thomas Mahnken, United States Strategic Culture (Defense Threat Reduction Agency:

SAIC, 2006), p. 10; also see Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", pp. 594–595.

118 Chester Willmot, *The Struggle for Europe* (London: Wm. Collins, 1954), pp. 136–137. Allan R. Millett, "The United States Armed Forces in the Second World War", in Military Effectiveness vol. 3, The Second World War, eds Millett and Williamson Murray (Boston, 1988), pp. 60-62; 81-84; Allan R. Millet and Peter Maslowski, For the Common Defense: A Military History of the United States of America (New York, 1984) ch.

<sup>119</sup> Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ..., p. 23.

<sup>120</sup> Richard Overy, Why the Allies Won (New York: Norton, 1995), p. 192, cited in Mahnken United States Strategic Culture, p. 11; Bacevich, The New American Militarism, pp. 156-158; Robert Bathurst, Intelligence and The Mirror: On Creating the Enemy (New York: Sage Publications, 1993), p. 109. Albert Wohlstetter states that superior economic resources offer numerous advantages in a war of attrition against materially inferior enemies. Albert Wohlstetter and Henry Rowen, Objectives of the United Sates Military Posture (RAND, May 1, 1959).

<sup>121</sup> Brian M. Linn, "The American Way of War Revised", Journal of Military History, vol. 66, no. 2 (April 2002), pp. 501-533.

<sup>122</sup> Mahnken, United States Strategic Culture, p. 10.

maneuverability or on strategic thoroughness. 125 The American military sought to take the war to the enemy as rapidly and as destructively as the machinery of industrial-age warfare permitted, while maneuver was considered to be simply the means to impose firepower on the opposing force. 126 It almost took it for granted that it would be able to mass forces and firepower whenever and wherever it desired. 127 This industrial approach to warfare accounts, according to some scholars, for the relative disfavor with which traditional military theory is regarded. 128 Robert Lock-Pullan notes that the United States did not historically develop "excellence in strategy and military thought because it did not have to". 129 Scholars report the strong predisposition of the American military tradition to value practice at the expense of theory. 130 Although a professional military education of the US officers' corps was strongly emphasized, Williamson Murray argues that American strategic culture frequently tended to be anti-intellectual and antihistorical. 131 Colin Gray argues that this neglect of a professional military education at the top, results in part in a tendency to think astrategically. 132 The philosophy of a continuous and profound professional military education wassimply not that important an attribute to American military culture. Intellectual curiosity in military science never became a criterion for promotion. 133

The above observations also reflect on the American approach to developing professional theoretical knowledge about the nature of war. No theoretical approach for the organized study of war in all its aspects (the impact of social, economical, political, and technological phenom-

<sup>123</sup> Ibid.; Maththew J. Morgan, "An Evolving View of Warfare: War and Peace and the American Military Profession", Small Wars and Insurgencies, vol. 16, no. 2 (June 2005): 147-169. As Jeremy Black has demonstrated, until today, American cultural reflex drives its strategists to seek "decisive battle", which will bring "decisive victory" with clear-cut results. Black, Rethinking Military History.

<sup>124</sup> Gray, Irregular Enemies, pp. 31, 38-39.

<sup>125</sup> Eliot Cohen, "The strategy of innocence? The United States, 1920-1945", in The Making of Strategy: Rulers, States, and War, ed. Williamson Murray (Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 1996); Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ...; John Ellis, Brute Force; Donn Starry, "A Perspective on American Military Thought", Military Review, vol. 69

<sup>126</sup> Loch-Pullan, US Intervention Policy, pp. 19–22, 83; Gray, Irregular Warfare, p. 42.

<sup>127</sup> Starry, "A Perspective ...": 2-11; Mahnken, United States Strategic Culture, p. 11.

<sup>128</sup> May, The Sources ..., p. 48; Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ..., p. 13; Gray, Irregular Enemies; Starry, "A Perspective ..."

<sup>129</sup> Lock-Pullan, The US Intervention Policy ..., p. 13; Williamson Murray, "The Future of American Military Culture: Does Military Culture Matter?" ORBIS, (winter 1994).

<sup>130</sup> Chris Donnelly, Red Banner: The Soviet Military System in Peace and War (London: Jane's Inforamtion Group, 1988), p. 201.

<sup>131</sup> Murray, "The Future of American Military Culture": 34-35; in the other source he argues that the US senior military leadership's "overall attitude at best appears to be that education is a luxury for the American military rather than a necessity. Williamson Murray, "Transformation of Professional Military Education", in National Security Challenges for the 21st Century (US Army War College, 2003), pp. 10-11.

<sup>132</sup> Gray, "National Style in Strategy".

ena on the methods of fighting) was ever formulated in the West. 134 Fundamental studies of war and predictions about its future obviously did take place in the US. However when scholars compared them to those done in the USSR, they found the former to be fragmentized, not integrated, uncoordinated, and rarely linked directly to the development of the state's military machine. 135 Edward Luttwak, in an essay written in 1981 in International Security, pointed out that despite the longstanding recognition of an operational level of warfare in classical military literature, there was no adequate term for this in Anglo-Saxon military thought. 136 John Erickson and Raymond Garthoff have concurred that the term "operational art" was foreign to Western military thinking. 137 This was a serious conceptual shortcoming, since it is generally on this level that paradigmatic changes in the nature of warfare are debated. Strategic and tactical implications are an outgrowth of the initial insights produced in the milieu of operational art. 138 The American disinclination to invest in operational thinking comes as no surprise. The idea of "collapsing the enemy" by operational maneuver rather than simply annihilating it by firepower conceptually diverged from the established American strategic tradition. 139

It was only in the wake of the Vietnam War that ALB concepts began to emphasize warfare maneuverability and the necessity to develop theoretical knowledge on the operational level. <sup>140</sup> It was not however until 1986 that the US army reoriented from battles of integral annihilation in favor of a more dynamic and complex understanding of war, and officially recognized operational art as an integral part of the US military thought. <sup>141</sup>

133 Murray, "Transformation of Professional Military Education", pp. 13–17.

<sup>134</sup> Lacking any formal theory to approach the study of war, Western military researchers often had difficulty in even grasping the terminology used by the Russians. Donnelly, Red Banner, p. 101–102;

<sup>135</sup> It contrasted with the Soviet case, where all the insights about the nature of war, weaponry and strategy were channeled directly into specific policy decisions. Donnelly, Red Banner, p. 109.

<sup>136</sup> Edward N. Luttwak, "The Operational Level of War", International Security (winter 1980/81).

<sup>137</sup> Raymond Garthoff, Significant features of Soviet military doctrine (Santa Monica, Calif.: Rand Corp., 1954); Erickson, "The Significance of Operational Art ..."

<sup>138</sup> Naveh, In Pursuit.; F.F. Gaivoronovskii and M.I. Galkin, Kultura voennogo myshlenia (Moscow: Voennizdat, 1991).

<sup>139</sup> Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ..., p. 102; Richard Simpkin, Race to the Swift (London: Batsfrod, 1985). Walter Jacobs, "Operational Art", Army, no. 11 (1961), cited in Erickson, Soviet Ground Forces.

<sup>140</sup> John Kiszely, "Thinking About the Operational Level", RUSI Journal, vol. 150, no. 6 (December 2005). Richard Simpkin, Deep Battle: the Brainchild of Marshall Tukhachevskii (New York: Brassey's Defense Publishers, 1986), p. ix and ch. 5.

<sup>141</sup> Lock-Pullan, *US Intervention Policy ...*, p. 92; Murray, "Transformation of Professional Military Education", p. 17.

# Optimistic and Engineering Approaches to Security

The belief of the founding fathers that America represented a "new beginning" contributed to a national identity based on liberal, democratic, Protestant and capitalistic principles. Individual freedoms, pragmatism and rationalism formed the cornerstones of the new society. 142 The capitalist economy, liberal political structures and a strong spirit of exploration produced a belief that as nature could and should be understood, potentially almost any problem can be solved. Optimistic entrepreneurship became a value in all fields of American social activity and created a society based on notions of efficacy, rationalism and pragmatism. Compounded by repeated success, it produced a romantic engineering creed that viewed social and security problems as essentially mechanical in nature and, consequently, consistent with the logic of man-made machines. 143

American history is rife with "miraculous" achievements, typically in the face of challenging geography. Conquering the wilderness bred a frontier pragmatism that was translated into an engineering, problem-solving ethos. This approach often regards political conditions as a set of problems, <sup>144</sup> and pushes strategists, influenced by engineering, to "attempt the impossible." As a society whose Declaration of Independence affirmed the "pursuit of happiness" as the natural right of every citizen, the Americans tended to take a proactive approach, viewing sources of unease and discomfort as "engineering problems". <sup>146</sup> A belief evolved in popular culture that problems could always be solved. <sup>147</sup> The

<sup>142</sup> Max Weber, The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism (Gloucester: Talcott Parsons, 1988), pp. 62–64; Barry Alan Shain, The Myth of American Individualism: The Protestant Origins of American Political Thought (Princeton: Princeton UP., 1995); Mark Noll, ed., Religion and American Politics from the Colonial Period to the 1980s (Oxford: Oxford UP, 1990), pp. 19–20; Philip Gleason, "American Identity and Americanization", Harvard Encyclopedia of American Ethnic Groups (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 1980), pp. 31–32; Arms, "Strategic Culture and The American Mind", pp. 4–6.

<sup>143</sup> May, The Sources ..., pp. 12, 14, 18, 26, 28, 36-37, 40, 42-43, 45-46.

<sup>144</sup> Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", p. 590; Gray, Irregular Enemies, p. 33.

<sup>145</sup> Stanley Hoffman, Gulliver's Troubles: On the Setting of American Foreign Policy (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1968).

<sup>146</sup> Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", pp. 588, 593.

<sup>147</sup> John Shy, A People Numerous and Armed: Reflections on the Military Struggle for American Independence (University of Michigan Press, 1990), pp. 238–240, 270; Charles Heller and William Stofft, eds, America's First Battles, 1776–1965 (Lawrence: UP of Kansas, 1986); Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", p. 597; Gray, Irregular Enemies, p. 33. Walter Russell Mead, "The Jacksonian Tradition and American Foreign Policy", National Interest (winter 1999/2000): 5–29. Swift resolutions are frequently preferred over long-term and demanding enterprises. Gray, War, Peace and Victory, pp. 196, 354; Arms, "Strategic Culture and The American Mind", pp. 18–19; Downey and Metz; Jean-Francois Revel, How Democracies Perish, (New York: Doubleday, 1983); Charles Cogan, French Negotiating Behavior: Dealing with La Grand Nation (Washington DC.: United States Institute of Peace, 2003), pp. 149–151.

political challenges posed by the American Indians, menacing European or Asian empires were transformed by the United States into military problems that could be resolved definitively by means of machine warfare. <sup>148</sup> The absence of national-level security disasters reinforced optimism as an American national philosophy. <sup>149</sup> Such a strategic culture is more at home with administration than with the art of diplomacy or strategy. <sup>150</sup> It is inclined toward reductionist methods of problem-solving, by minimizing the complications created by culture, time, and distance. <sup>151</sup>

Similar engineering positivism is manifested in American military thought. Though Carl von Clausewitz might be considered the father of the American approach to civil-military relations, many claim that the true mentor of US military thinking is Antoine Jomini. He wrote about war as an art, but his quest for reducing complexity to a few apparently simple principles has characterized American military thought. Armed with the Jominian belief in the effectiveness and power of basic axioms, American practicality sought to reduce strategic problems to equations. The country's domestic history encouraged the belief that American know-how would inevitably find a solution to any problem. This tendency is reinforced by an American fascination with technology that dictates, drives, and organizes the managerial mindset in military affairs. 153

# American Time Orientation - "Present and Immediate Future"

Anita Arms describes in her study of American strategic culture how the need for immediate action, the rapid resolution of problems and

<sup>148</sup> Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", p. 598.

<sup>149</sup> C. Vann Woodward, "The Age of Reinterpretation", American Historical Review, vol. 66 (October 1960).

<sup>150</sup> Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", pp. 598, 608–609. Collin S. Gray, Weapons Don't Make War: Policy, Strategy, and Military Technology (Lawrence: UP of Kansas, 1993).

<sup>151</sup> Bathurst, Intelligence and The Mirror, p. 120; this optimism can be observed in for-eign-policy enterprises. Throughout its history, Mahnken argues, the US has had an impulse "to transform the international system in the service of liberal democratic ideals". Mahnken, Uncovering Ways of War, p. 6.

<sup>152</sup> Shy, "Jomini", pp. 182–185; Gray "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", pp. 588, 592–593; Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ...; Starry, "American Military Thought"; Gray, Modern Strategy, pp. 149–150; Philip Skuta: Poker, Blackjack, Rummy and War: The face of American Strategic Culture (Carlisle Barracks, US Army War College, 2006), pp. 10–11; 14–15; Carnes Lord, "American Strategic Culture", Comparative Strategy, vol. 5, no. 3 (1985): 289–290.

<sup>153</sup> Tilford, The Revolution in Military Affairs; Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", p. 598.

achieving results went hand in hand with a strong American time orientation toward the present instead of the past or distant future.<sup>154</sup> The practicality of American thinking "condemns the irrational past", and directs it toward the immediate future, making the orientation more functional than that in other societies, where the future is measured in decades or generations. American time, argues Edward Hall, is linear.<sup>155</sup> The future appears in American thinking in the form of anticipated consequences of actions.<sup>156</sup>

American culture usually considers the newest to be the best. This inclination is clearly reflected in the US military's approach to weapons acquisition policy. While Soviet weapons research, development and procurement were driven by consumer requirements, the Western armed forces' often procured what industries produced and sold. In the West it was possible for a weapons system to be procured because it represented state-of-the-art technology, and not necessarily because its use was prescribed by the doctrine.<sup>157</sup>

The fascination with novelity and rapid transformations predisposes American society to accept change more readily than other cultures. However, as Frederick Downey and Steven Metz have noted, with little attention paid to the past, the tendency is to look ahead - not to the distant future, but more to the demanding present time. Although US strategic planning has not always focused solely on the here and now, observers characterize it as generally averse to an extended strategic outlook and more comfortable with near-term crisis management than with long-term strategy planning. As Williamson Murray put it, referring mostly to Vietnam, "the American nation's worst defeat resulted largely from a military and civilian leadership that prized modern tech-

<sup>154</sup> Arms, "Strategic Culture and The American Mind", pp. 9–12; Alvin Toffler, Future Shock (New York: Bantam Books, 1971) pp. 2–3; 54–55; David A. Hollinger, "The Problem of Pragmatism in American History", The Journal of American History, vol. 67, no. 1 (1980): 88–107.

<sup>155</sup> Edward T. Hall, The Dance of Life: The Other Dimensions of Time (New York: Anchor Press, 1983), pp. 201–202, 221–223.

<sup>156</sup> Edward Stewart and Milton Bennett, American Cultural Patterns: A Cross Cultural Perspective (Yarmouth, Me.: Intercultural Press, 1991), pp. 35–36; Bathurst, Intelligence and The Mirror, ch. 6.

<sup>157</sup> Donnelly, Red Banner, pp. 123, 133.

<sup>158</sup> Frederick Downey and Steven Metz, "The American Political Culture and Strategic Planning", *Parameters*, vol. XVIII (September 1988): 34–42; Arms, "Strategic Culture and The American Mind", pp. 18–21.

<sup>159</sup> For example, consider instances of long-term American strategic vision, such as: post-Civil War reconstruction; the Marshall Plan, the leading US role in the UN and Breton Woods; the NSC-68 and the US commitment to containment of the USSR. Skuta, Poker, Blackjack ..., pp. 16–17;

<sup>160</sup> Jeremy Rifkin, Time Wars: The Primary Conflict in Human History (New York: Touchstone, 1987), pp. 73–73; Arms, "Strategic Culture and The American Mind", pp. 11–15; Skuta, Poker, Blackjack ..., p. 7; Gray.

nology over the lessons of the past."<sup>161</sup> This lack of historical and cultural curiosity frequently results in a situation in which the enemy of the US understands the Americans far more coherently and effectively than the Americans understand him.<sup>162</sup>

# Democratic Tradition, Bottom-Up Organization and the Role of the Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS)

As a social-organizational phenomenon, the JCS manifested the American strategic culture just as the Soviet General Staff (GS) was keeping with the Russian strategic tradition. The organizational role of the JCS similar to that of the General Staffs of other countries was inconsistent with American cultural characteristics. The American political modus operandi prevented the concentration of an ultimate authority in a single military organization. Consolidating bureaucratic power in one central place (i.e. in the hands of the JCS chairman) would have contradicted the American democratic tradition of checks and balances. In keeping with the liberal tradition of American society, authority was delegated down to the services. Consistent with an entrepreneurial culture, the competition between services was expected to be beneficial and to serve as an impetus for innovative initiatives. <sup>163</sup>

As a result, one of the most significant bodies of the American military system, the JCS, was also one of the most controversial. Although the JCS was designated as the principle military advisory body to the civilian leadership, the chairman lacked the statutory mandate for independent long-term recommendations. His advice centered more on budget allocations and less on long-term strategy or development of American military power. The JCS was, for the most part, disconnected from the operational realm, rarely held command responsibility of its own, and as a rule, delegated considerable authority, including doctrinal development, to the services. <sup>164</sup> *De facto*, the services, and not the

<sup>161</sup> Murray, "Transformation of Professional Military Education", p. 16. Donnelly, Red Banner, p. 31.

<sup>162</sup> Murray, "Transformation of Professional Military Education", p. 16.

<sup>163</sup> Eliot A. Cohen, "How to Think About Defense", in Williamson Murray, 1995–1996 Brassey's Mershon American Defense Annual (Washington, DC: Brassey's, 1995).

<sup>164</sup> Lawrence Korb, The Joint Chiefs of Staff: the First Twenty-Five Years (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1976); id., The Fall and the Rise of the Pentagon (Westport: Greenwood Press, 1979); Thomas L. McNaugher and Roger L. Sperry, "Improving Military Coordination: the Goldwater-Nichols Reorganization of the Department of Defense", in Who Makes Public Policy? Robert S. Gilmour and Alexis A. Halley (Chatham: Chatham House, 1994); Peter J. Roman and David W. Tarr, "The Joint Chiefs of Staff: From Service Parochialism to Jointness", Political Science Quarterly, vol. 113, no. 1, (1998): 91–111; William J. Lynn and Barry R. Posen, "The Case for JCS Reform", International Security, vol. 10, no. 3. (winter 1985-1986): 69–97.

JCS or the Department of Defense, were the most powerful institutions of American national security. 165

The establishment and subsequent functioning of the JCS was a distinct manifestation of American military parochialism. Its members faced a constant in-built dilemma, between representing the interests of their respective services and thinking jointly and broadly about the nature of the armed forces in an existing or emerging security environment. It was the former which invariably prevailed. Rather than being an elite military organization which concentrated the finest professional capital, the selection process produced narrowly focused, combat-oriented line officers, committed to the parochial interests of their services. The officers were selected late in their careers and were not formally educated for duty in the JCS. In striking contrast to the Soviet GS, the JCS by no means consisted of the *crème de la crème* of the American military. <sup>166</sup>

Strategic and long-term defense planning were weakly institutionalized in the JCS. It lacked the powerful cadres required to produce effective cross-service vision and advice that was capable of affecting the long-term development of the US military. By definition, the Chairman was a budgetary manger and occasional operational planner but not a deductive thinker about the nature of war. He was neither a doctrinal luminary nor an initiator of long-term strategic decisions. The JCS remained a captive of the services and lacked the intellectual mechanisms to generate broad, cross-cutting long-term recommendations. The institutionalized conceptual centers of gravity, such as Training and Doctrine Command (TRADOC), were diffused among the services which initiated most American military innovations. 167 Lacking strategic guidance, the services' innovations were often piecemeal, inconsistent, and sectarian, and rarely expanded beyond the operational level. "Each branch developed its distinctive strategic paradigm" and the JCS rarely offered conceptual alternatives to the views developed in the services. 168 As a rule, American military innovated bottom-up, from the services to the leadership. 169

<sup>165</sup> Carl H. Builder, The Masks of Wart: American Military Styles in Strategy and Analysis (London: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1989).

<sup>166</sup> Ibid; and Roman and Tarr, p. 94.

<sup>167</sup> Rosen, Winning the Next War.

<sup>168</sup> Roman and Tarr, pp. 91, 94; Lynn and Posen; Korb.

<sup>169</sup> Evangelsita, Innovation and Arms Race; Bathurst, Intelligence and The Mirror; the US also approached negotiations in the same inductive or bottom-up manner. Cogan, French Negotiating Behavior, pp. 11, 48–49,124–125,247; Avruch, Culture and Conflict Resolution, pp. 63–65; Cohen, Negotiating across Cultures, pp. 30–33.

No single institution existed in the American military which possessed a synthetic grasp of the security environment. Given the structure of the JCS, there was no institution capable of systematically thinking through the discontinuities in military affairs along the entire spectrum of their implications for the services. Without that perspective, it was virtually impossible to analyze the impact of the scientifictechnological changes on the nature of warfare in general and on the doctrine and organization of the American military forces in particular. The state of professional periodicals serves as a case in point. Following the 1986 military reform, the JCS established its own professional publication, Joint Forces Quarterly, for the dissemination of knowledge among senior military professionals. This vanguard of American military thought was established only in 1993. In contrast, the professional publications of the American military services had been established several decades earlier than the quarterly of the JCS. For the sake of comparison, the Soviet GS had established its periodical Military Thought in the late 1920s. The titles of the journals also manifest which raison d'être their founders attributed to them. Williamson Murray, in discussing the relatively insignificant attention paid to doctrinal conceptualizations and theory development within the framework of American military culture, argues that the Joint Staff never constituted the intellectual center of gravity of the US military forces. 170 Through the years, the above-mentioned weaknesses of the JCS system were observed and noted by several American defense intellectuals. 171

## **Technological Romanticism in Military Affairs**

The strong bias toward technocentric warfare is an essential component of American strategic behavior. However, prudent exploitation of the technological dimension of war was a vital American asset in a number of areas. Scholars do not condemn machines or technology, rather their misuse and an overreliance on technology. According to Thomas Mahnken, "no other nation has placed greater emphasis upon the role of technology in planning and waging war, than the US." Reliance on

<sup>170</sup> Murray, "The Future of American Military Culture": 39-41.

<sup>171</sup> Edward Luttwak, *The Pentagon and the Art of War* (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1984); Harold Brown, *Thinking About National Security: Defense and Foreign Policy in a Dangerous World* (Boulder: Westview Press, 1983)

<sup>172</sup> Gray, Irregular Enemies, p. 36; id., Strategy and History: Essays on Theory and Practice (London: Rutledge, 2006), p. 166; id., Modern Strategy (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999), p. 147.

<sup>173</sup> Mahnken, United States Strategic Culture, p. 12.

new technology is a corollary of the predisposition to solve problems quickly and in simple, direct terms. <sup>174</sup>

Initially, America's romance with machinery, particularly with mechanical means of transportation, was a result of the need to conquer the wilderness. Population density on the frontier, together with an acute shortage of skilled artisans obliged Americans to invent substitutes for human skill and muscle. The new society responded to this shortage by ingeniously embracing machines and taking the lead in the production of mechanical tools. Since the early nineteenth century the United States has been a land of technological marvels and developed an extraordinary rate of technology dependency. The

The fascination with technology was not unique to the military; it characterized the culture as a whole. In contrast to Europe, American history has few examples of mobs destroying industrial machines. As Andrew May has shown, the capitalist economy fueled, and even demanded, ongoing innovation while the relentless character of the competition and the constant pressure to improve pushed scientists, technologists, and consumers closer together. American thinking is unusually innovative and enthusiastic with regards to technology. In the broader popular narrative, technology is generally seen as bringing benefits. <sup>177</sup> The liberal American tradition saw technology as an instrument for preserving the nation's immunity from war rather than as new means for waging it. <sup>178</sup>

One of the principal by-products of technology was a faith in technology. The American strategic culture viewed technology as a panacea in global affairs, and sought ways to expand its scope and to apply technical solutions to strategic issues. Weigley, in discussing the

<sup>174</sup> Skuta, Poker, Blackjack ..., p. 16.

<sup>175</sup> Gray, Strategy and History, p. 141; Kathleen Thelen, How Institutions Evolve: the Political Economy of Skills in Germany, Britain, the United States, and Japan (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004), pp. 280–281.

<sup>176</sup> Denis W. Brogan, The American Character (New York: Vintage Books, 1956), p. 150; Billington, America's Frontier Heritage; Gray, Strategy and History, p. 141; Ira Gruber, "The Anglo-American Military Tradition and the War for American Impendence", in Against all Enemies, Hagan and Roberts eds, pp. 21–46.

<sup>177</sup> May, The Sources ..., pp. 12, 14, 18, 26, 28, 35–37, 40, 42–43; Steven M. Irwin, Technology Policy and Americas Future (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1993); Thomas Parke Hughes, Changing Attitudes Toward American Technology (New York: Harper and Row Publishers, 1975).

<sup>178</sup> Michael Sherry, The Rise of American Air Power: The Creation of Armageddon (New Haven, Yale University Press, 1987), pp. 233–235; In the Shadow of War, pp. 10–11.

<sup>179</sup> Tilford, The Revolution in Military Affairs, p. 11; Loren Baritz, Backfire: Vietnam, The Myths That made Us Fight, The Illusions That Helped Us Lose, The Legacy That Haunts Us Still (New York: William Morrow and Co., 1984), p. 32.

<sup>180</sup> Weigley, The American Way of War, p. 416; Gray, Irregular Enemies, p. 33; Sherry, In the Shadow of War, pp. 38–39; id., The Rise of American Air Power, pp. 233–235; Farrell, 2002, p. 19.

American way of war, argues that the pragmatic qualities of the American character have fostered a national penchant for seeking refuge from difficult problems of strategy in technology. <sup>181</sup> This predisposition to technicity – to the exaggerated significance of the technical – was characteristic of American policymakers, as well. <sup>182</sup> Many military historians regard the technology of warfare as one of the most important independent variables in the country's military thought. <sup>183</sup> Technological romanticism engendered visions of a mystical silver bullet promising decisive victory. <sup>184</sup>

The zeal for technology was further fueled by a desire to get more "bang for the buck" while minimizing American, if not enemy casualties. <sup>185</sup> The desire to minimize human losses (typical of democratic regimes) is another trait of American strategic culture. American society could not abide a high rate of casualties and the military sought a style of fighting designed to minimize fatalities. Thus, it became American practice to send metal into battle in place of vulnerable flesh. <sup>186</sup> The preference to expend bombs and machines rather than personnel also led the United States to prefer to wreak destruction from a distance. <sup>187</sup> According to Eliot Cohen, these elements are mutually reinforcing. The armed forces opt for air power, stand-off strikes, overwhelming fire-power, and high technology as a mean to reduce the forces' vulnerability in military operations. <sup>188</sup>

This technological enthusiasm varies across the distinct subcultures of the American military services. <sup>189</sup> The air force and navy were traditionally the most techno-friendly and techno-dependent. The army

<sup>181</sup> Weigley, The American Way of War, p. 416.

<sup>182</sup> Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", pp. 593, 609; Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ..., ch.1, pp. 13–28.

<sup>183</sup> Shy, A People Numerous ..., pp. 287–288; Gray, Irregular Enemies, p. 37.

<sup>184</sup> Tilford, pp. 10-11; Gray, Strategy and History, p. 165.

<sup>185</sup> Andrew Krepinevich, The Army and Vietnam, (Baltimore; London: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1986), pp. 5–7; Gray, Irregular Enemies, pp. 47–48; Theo Farrell, "Strategic culture and American Empire", SAIS Review, vol. XXV, no. 2 (summer-fall, 2005); Lerner, America as a Civilization, p. 910; Jeffrey Record, "Collapsed Countries, Casualty Dread, and the American Way of War", Parameters, (Summer 2002) pp. 4–23.

<sup>186</sup> Farrell, "Strategic Culture and American Empire"; Gray, Irregular Enemies, pp. 47–48, 37; For the tendency to send men and not machines as a root of American technological determinism, see Krepinevich, The Army and Vietnam, pp. 5–7; Chris Gray, Postmodern War (York: Guilford Press, 1997), pp. 50, 137, 248, 50, 29, 225; Gray, Irregular Enemies, pp. 47–48; Lock-Pullan, US Intervention Policy ..., p. 21; Robert Scales, Firepower in Limited War (Novato, CA: Presidio, 1995) pp., 3–5, 10–30.

<sup>187</sup> Chris Gray, Postmodern War (York: Guilford Press, 1997), p. 137.

<sup>188</sup> Eliot A. Cohen, "The Mystique of US Air Power", Foreign Affairs, vol. 73, no. 1 (1994): 109–124; Benjamin S. Lambeth, The Transformation of American Air Power (Ithaca, NY.: Cornell University Press, 2000).

<sup>189</sup> Builder, The Masks of Wart.

kept its distance from such techno-bias and the marines valued technology the least. Being "boots-on-the-ground" services, the army and marines rely to a relatively greater extent on the human element than on machines and put the former at the center of warfare; hence the saying that the air force and navy man the equipment, while the army and marine corps equip the man. However, scholars agree that in spite of these differences, techno-centric romantic culture was ingrained in all four of the American military services and also served as a common denominator for civilian policymakers involved in military affairs. <sup>190</sup>

Within the defense establishment, debates about technology and budgets frequently usurped the place of strategy. The traditional orientation toward quick action and results, an attachment for things new and futuristic, and a disinclination to wage long wars was frequently in keeping with the almost instinctive reliance of American strategists on technology as a panacea in national security affairs. <sup>191</sup> This pragmatism can result in a technical approach to international security, and a conception of complicated issues as problems requiring engineering solutions. <sup>192</sup> American reliance on technology, according to Thomas Mahnken, was a poor but ubiquitous substitute for strategic thinking in international security. <sup>193</sup>

### An Inclination to Ethnocentrism

The US has historically seen itself as an arbiter of morality, with a special moral-political mission in the world. <sup>194</sup> It has been argued that this

<sup>190</sup> Mahnken, United States Strategic Culture, pp. 16–18; Builder, The Masks of Wart, pp. 3–4; Farrell, "Strategic Culture and American Empire"; Murray, "The Future of American Military Culture": 36; Sociological research characterizes US military officers as "technological optimists". Thomas Mahnken and James FitzSimonds, The Limits of Transformation: Officer Attitudes toward the Revolution in Military Affairs, Newport Paper no. 17, (Newport: Naval War College Press, 2003), ch. 6; and also see Mahnken, United States Strategic Culture, p. 12.

<sup>191</sup> Russel Weigley, The American Way of War: A History of United States Military Strategy and Policy (Bloomington, Indiana University Press, 1977), p. 416; Downey and Metz; Todd Zachary, The Effect of American Strategic Culture on Implementing National Strategy, (Maxwell: Air Force University, 2000), pp. 50–53; Gray, in Murray, 35–36; 45–46; Lord, "American Strategic Culture": 289–290; Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", pp. 588, 593; Downey and Metz; Tilford, The Revolution in Military Affairs; Andrew May, The Sources ..., pp. 45–48.

<sup>192</sup> Ryle, The Aspects of Mind; Stewart and Bennett, American Cultural Patterns, pp. 32–33; Edmund Glenn, Man and Mankind: Conflict and Communication Between Cultures (Norwood: Ablex Publishing Corporation, 1981), pp. 80–81; Gray; Arms, "Strategic Culture and The American Mind".

<sup>193</sup> Mahnken, United States Strategic Culture, p. 13.

<sup>194</sup> Francis J. Bremer, John Winthrop: America's Forgotten Founding Father (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003); Gray, Irregular Enemies, p. 34; id., "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", p. 591.

vision, fueled by the isolationist tradition, has sometimes created an ethnocentric belief among Americans that they occupy the moral high ground and their inclination to view the world primarily through the perspective of their own culture. 195 The early ideologies of American colonists were influenced by the Protestantism of the Puritan settlers who believed that they were God's people - chosen to lead the other nations of the world. John Winthrop gave this notion metaphoric expression in his description of America as a "City upon a Hill." The successful course of political and military history in the US has provided justification for its belief in its own optimism, a self-confident sense of superiority, and invulnerability. 197 Americans' high estimation of themselves as a nation, including a collective narrative which emphasizes political and moral uniqueness, liberty, a divine mission, and a multidimensional sense of national greatness has made it difficult for them to accept the beliefs, habits, and behaviors of foreign cultures. 198

American history, at least up until the Vietnam War, was presented as an extremely positive narrative. Young colonies evolved into a power capable of carrying out the world's most important endeavors. This generated an extraordinary optimism regarding what could be achieved by the American way of war. 199 The early wars - the Seven Years War (1756-63), the Revolutionary War (1775-83), and the War of 1812 regardless of how they had begun, were victorious at a relatively small cost. The late American entry into both World Wars was followed by a steady march toward victory. Successful involvement in both wars are recounted with considerable ignorance, minimizing the role played by Britain, Russia, and France, and a belief that the United States had ultimately won in both cases.<sup>200</sup> This was a narrative which perpetuated ethnocentricity and bolstered the existing strategic culture. 201 The overwhelmingly victorious historical experience kept Americans from ex-

<sup>195</sup> Booth, Strategy and Ethnocentrism; Gray, Irregular Enemies; Mahnken, Uncovering Ways of War; Robert H. Scales, "Culture Centric Warfare", US Naval Institute Proceedings, vol. 130, no. 10 (October 2004): 32-36; Cogan, French Negotiating Behavior, pp. 4, 6, 11; Archie Roosevelt, For Luss of Knowing: Memoirs of an Intelligence Officer (Boston: Little Brown and Company, 1988), pp. 440–441; Horace Kallen, Culture and Democracy in the United States: Studies in the Group Psychology of the American People (New York, 1924), p. 53; Irving Kristol, "Defining Our National Interest", The National Interest (fall 1990): 19-20.

<sup>196</sup> Bremer, John Winthrop.

<sup>197</sup> Henry Steele Commager, The American Mind: An Interpretation o American Thought and Character Since the 1880 (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1950), pp. 430-431; Gray, War, Peace and Victory, pp. 25-26; Arms, "Strategic Culture and The American Mind", pp. 24-25; Shy, A People Numerous ..., pp. 278-282.

<sup>198</sup> Gray, Irregular Enemies, p. 34; Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", pp. 582, 591; Scale, "Culture-Centric Warfare", pp. 32–36. Shy, A People Numerous ..., p. 268.
199 Shy, A People Numerous ..., pp. 278–280; Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", pp.

<sup>582, 591, 597.</sup> 

<sup>200</sup> Shy, "Jomini", pp. 278-282; 285-286.

amining counterproductive conduct that might undermine military effectiveness. <sup>202</sup>

Ethnocentrism is known to produce a phenomenon known as mirror-imaging, a cognitive situation in which decision-makers or intelligence analysts project their thought processes or their value system onto the subject under reference.<sup>203</sup> The tendency for mirror imaging also comes from insufficient interest in the opponent's way of thinking. This "pathology" has been diagnosed in the American security and intelligence experience.<sup>204</sup> It primarily hampers the ability to properly identify and assess emerging foreign methods of warfare. Thomas Mahnken has detected signs of mirror imaging among American intelligence officers monitoring developments in Japan and in Nazi Germany during the World War Two. In addition, technical developments were often assessed on the basis of the analyst's own technology. 205 Robert Bathurst has reported on constant "mirror imaging" in the routine work of American intelligence officers analyzing the Soviet military doctrine and technological capabilities during the Cold War. 206 The adversary's practices are studied not only in order to understand the potential enemy but also in order to learn alternative military art to emulate valuable ideas. In this regard, ethnocentrism can prove to be a serious obstacle. While the Soviet Army showed no reluctance to imitate and copy ideas from the US, this was not usually the case in reverse. Western nations, and the American military in particular, were less flexible in their attitudes, exhibiting a "not invented here" mentality. 207

201 Kenneth J. Hagan and William R. Roberts, eds, Against All Enemies: Interpretations of American Military History from Colonial Times to the Present (Westport, CT, 1986), pp. 210–47; Shy, A People Numerous ..., pp. 193–224.

<sup>202</sup> The sustaining myth of American national exceptionalism – the notion of a truly unique society – fostered a strategic-cultural arrogance. Gray, "Strategy in the Nuclear Age", pp. 593–595; Francis Fukuyama, "The End of History", National Interest (Summer 1989), pp. 3–18.

<sup>203</sup> Richards J. Heuer, Physiology of Intelligence Analysis (Washington DC.: Center for the Study of Intelligence, 1999), pp. 70–71.

<sup>204</sup> Andrew Stuart, Friction in U.S. Foreign Policy: Cultural Difficulties with the World (Carlisle, PA: Strategic Studies Institute, U.S. Army War College, 2006).

<sup>205</sup> Mahnken, Uncovering Ways of War, pp. 11, 50.

<sup>206</sup> Bathurtst, Intelligence and the Mirror.

<sup>207</sup> Donnelly, Red Banner, pp. 131-132, 206.

## **Conclusion**

### **Cultural Factors and the American RMA**

The cultivation of the technological seeds of the American RMA preceded the maturation of the conceptual ones. The US developed technology and weaponry for about a decade without realizing their revolutionary implications. Why did it take the US defense community close to a decade to acknowledge the accuracy of Soviet assumptions and to translate MTR theoretical postulates into a radical military reform? Several qualities of American strategic culture prevented its swift comprehension of the paradigmatic change in the nature of warfare discussed in the case under study.

During the introduction of PGM weaponry to the battlefield, mainstream American military experts concentrated on the focal point the mechanical application of the new technologies on the tactical level, and detached it from the *context* - the implications of this new weaponry on the ways and means of conducting operations. This concentration on the focal technologies at the expense of the broader contextual implications hampered the US military from the swift comprehension of the paradigmatic change in the nature of war. The US forecasting efforts were piecemeal, extrapolated ahead from current capabilities, rather than trying to anticipate qualitative leaps in military regimes. The ALB innovation aimed to satisfy specific requirements related to a narrow, techno-tactical, yet relevant set of operational threats. The US military long saw in the stand-off PGMs no more than a perfect and immediate remedy for the Soviet echelonment doctrine. The US possessed only an intuitive understanding of the revolution that was about to occur, and was not consciously thinking in terms of a revolution. Not until Andrew Marshall and his colleagues from ONA introduced the notion of the RMA into the professional military discourse did the emerging discontinuity reach the consciousness of the American defense community.

In keeping with the inductive approach to understanding reality, a paradigmatic change among the mainstream of the US military did not occur before the particular empirical experience (Gulf War) had been observed and generalized.

Why did ONA experts reach better assessments than the rest of the American intelligence community on what the Soviets were thinking? As Colin Gray has noted in one of his publications, "a security community may have more than one strategic culture."208 Led by Andrew W. Marshall ever since, the ONA experts succeeded in grasping this discontinuity because they did not embody - in fact had consciously suppressed - most of the traits of American strategic culture. The intellectual conduct of ONA was the striking exception to the rule, which nevertheless proved the rule. Eclectic, holistic and synthetic in its nature, the thinking style and the intellectual atmosphere inside the ONA diverged remarkably from the logical-analytical approach of mainstream American strategic culture. ONA experts consciously stressed the importance of context-dependence in the course of their analytical activity and sought to distance themselves from mainstream mechanical focalism. In contrast to the prevalent American costeffectiveness approach which was procedural and prescriptive, ONA was consciously committed to producing descriptive knowledge.<sup>209</sup>

American strategic culture was less prepared institutionally and intellectually to think in terms of revolutions in military affairs. Institutionally, in keeping with a decentralized liberal culture, relevant conceptual and organizational military innovations, such as ALB, originated in a bottom-up manner, from the services and not top-down from the JCS or DoD. In keeping with the American cultural tendency to divide strategic problems into discrete parts in order to solve them, discerning the whole was frequently difficult. The American JCS had no ethos of being a "brain of the military", and consequently strategic and long-term defense planning was weakly institutionalized there. The JCS lacked a powerful bureaucracy capable of producing an effective cross-service vision and advice that could affect the long-term development of US military power. The Chairman was a budgetary manager and occasional operational planner but not a deductive thinker about the nature of war. He remained a captive of the service's parochialism

<sup>208</sup> Gray (SAIC, 2006), p. 23.

<sup>209</sup> Pickett et. al, "Net Assessment", pp. 173-177.

and lacked the intellectual capital to generate deep, cross-cutting, long-term observations.

Intellectually, the US military was unprepared for grasping the RMA as well. For generations, an integral battle of annihilation and enemy attrition by superior firepower had been an American way of war. This industrial approach to warfare accounts for the relative disfavor of the American theoretical military tradition. One implication was that the notion of operational art as a theoretical concept was rejected by the US military tradition until 1980s. The aim of "collapsing the enemy" by operational maneuver rather than simply annihilating it by firepower conceptually diverged from the established American strategic tradition. Because ideas about paradigmatic changes in the nature of war originate on the operational level of military thought, the lack of this intellectual layer was a serious obstacle that prevented thinking in terms of the RMA.<sup>210</sup>

The traditional orientation toward quick action and results, an attachment to things new and futuristic, and a disinclination to wage a long war, resulted in the almost instinctive reliance of American strategists on technology as a panacea in national security affairs. An optimistic and engineering approach to security, an industrial approach to warfare, annihilation and attrition by firepower, the positive role of machines in the American cultural narrative, the desire for cost-effective firepower, while minimizing casualties, made the US probably the most techno-centric military in the world. In this atmosphere, a functional and mostly tactical application of the advanced technologies took center stage. With certain variations, techno-euphoria was deeply ingrained in all four military services. During the 1970s, this technological romanticism disinclined the defense establishment to perceive the broader impact of this technological breakthrough upon the nature of war and to make a quantum leap in the sphere of military thought. American thinking appeared to focus more on how new technologies could be used to enhance the performance of existing missions. The PGMs were seen as just another, albeit significant, force multiplier in the military

<sup>210</sup> Flawed thinking about the impact of technology on the character of future war occurred not only at the stage of the paradigmatic change. H.R. McMaster has clearly shown how the US military frequently failed to understand the implications of the RMA. The superficial thinking that accompanied the uncritical embracing of the RMA corrupted American strategic and operational thought in subsequent decades. According to McMaster, "influential organizations within the US military focused on how US forces might prefer to fight and then assumed that preference was relevant to the problem of future war." H.R. McMaster, "On War: Lessons to be Learned", Survival, vol. 50, no. 1 (February-March 2008): 19–30.

arsenal. Notwithstanding ONA's intent to focus the professional attention of the US defense community on the symbiotic relationship between technology, concepts and organizational structures, "technoeuphoria" blossomed once again during the implementation stage of the American RMA in the late 1990s.

Historically, ethnocentricity was a considerable factor in American strategic culture. The US saw itself as an arbiter of morality, with a special moral-political mission in the world. This vision inclined the US to view the world primarily through the perspective of its own culture. Ethnocentricity increased the likelihood of such analytical pathologies as "mirror-imaging", in which foreign-security developments were measured by American standards. This unmotivated analytical bias of the US analysts made them less receptive to certain military innovations from abroad, since they did not correspond to the common wisdom of the American defense establishment. In keeping with this cultural trait, in their evaluations of the Soviet MTR, American experts projected their own perceptions. They measured the Soviets by the standards of the US military and on the basis of American technology. Until the ONA assessment, the US defense community had failed to grasp the essence of the Soviet MTR developments, and avoided accepting controversial futuristic conclusions offered by the Russians. Soviet writings about the revolutionary impact of the new weaponry were skeptically treated by the US experts as futuristic nonsense. Ironically, Soviet theories ultimately provided a kind of a "mirror" for US strategists. By analyzing how American military power was reflected in Soviet eyes in the early 1980s, US strategists were able to realize during the early 1990s the value of the revolutionary treasure they possessed.

## **Bibliography**

#### Books, Chapters in Books, and Monographs in English

- Arbel, David and Ran Edelist: Western Intelligence and the Collapse of the Soviet Union, 1980–1990 (London, Frank Cass, 2003).
- Arms, Anita: "Strategic Culture and The American Mind", in *Essays on Strategy IX*, Thomas C. Gill (Washington DC.: National Defense University, 1993).
- Arquilla, John, and David Ronfeldt: In Athena's Camp: Preparing for Conflict in the Information Age (Santa Monica: Rand, 1997).
- Avant, Deborah: Political Institutions and Military Change: Lessons from Peripheral Wars (Ithaca: Cornell UP, 1994).
- Bacevich, Andrew: The New American Militarism (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2005).
- Banchoff, Thomas: *The German Problem Transformed: Institutions, Politics, and Foreign Policy, 1945–1995* (Ann Arbor, Mich.: The University of Michigan Press, 1999).
- Baritz, Loren: Backfire: Vietnam, The Myths That made Us Fight, The Illusions That Helped Us Lose, The Legacy That Haunts Us Still (New York: William Morrow and Co., 1984).
- Bathurst, Robert: Intelligence and The Mirror: On Creating the Enemy (New York: Sage Publications, 1993).
- Benedict, Ruth: *The Chrysanthemum and the Sword* (Boston: Houghton Mifflin, 1946).
- Berger, Thomas: Cultures of Antimilitarism: National Security in Germany and Japan (Baltimore, Maryland: Johns Hopkins UP, 1998).

- Biddle, Stephen: Military Power: Explaining Victory and Defeat in Modern Warfare (Princeton NJ.: Princeton UP, 2004).
- Billington, Ray Allen: *America's Frontier Heritage* (Albuquerque, NM: University of New Mexico Press, 1986).
- Black, Jeremy: Rethinking Military History (London: Routledge, 2004).
- Blank, Stephen J.: Potemkin's Treadmill: Russian Military Modernization (National Bureau of Asian Research, 2005).
- —: The Soviet Military Views of Operation Desert Storm: A Preliminary Assessment (Carlisle Barracks, PA: Strategic Studies Institute, US Army War College, 1991).
- Boemeke, Manfred, Roger Chickering and Stig Foster: Anticipating Total War: the German and American Experiences, 1987–1914 (Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 1999).
- Bond, Brian: *Liddell Hart: A Study of His Military Thought* (New Brunswick: Rutgers University Press, 1977).
- Boot, Max: The Savage Wars of Peace: Small Wars and the Rise of American Power (New York: Basic Books, 2002).
- —: War Made New: Technology, Warfare and the Course of History, 1500 to Today (New York: Gotham Books, 2006).
- Booth, Ken: Strategy and Ethnocentrism (New York: Holmes and Meier, 1981).
- Booth, Ken and Russell Trood: *Strategic Cultures in the Asia-Pacific Region* (London: Macmillan Press, 1999).
- Bremer, Francis J.: *John Winthrop: America's Forgotten Founding Father* (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003).
- Brogan, Denis W.: The American Character (New York: Vintage Books, 1956).
- Brown, Harold: Thinking About National Security: Defense and Foreign Policy in a Dangerous World (Boulder: Westview Press, 1983).
- Brodie, Bernard: War and Politics (New York: Macmillan, 1973).
- Brown, Richard and Stanford Lyman: *Structure, Consciousness, and History* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1978).
- Builder, Carl H.: The Masks of Wart: American Military Styles in Strategy and Analysis (London: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1989).
- Cameron, Craig: American Samurai: Myth, Imagination and Conduct of battle in the First Marines Division 1941–1951 (Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 1994).

- Cassidy, Robert: Russia in Afghanistan and Chechnya: Military Strategic Culture and the Paradoxes of Asymmetric Conflict (US Army War College, 2003).
- Clark, Ann Marie: Diplomacy of Conscience: Amnesty International and Changing Human Rights Norms (Princeton: Princeton UP, 2002).
- Cohen, Eliot: Gulf War Air Power Survey Summary Report (Washington, DC., 1993).
- —: "The strategy of innocence? The United States, 1920–1945", in Williamson Murray, *The Making of Strategy : Rulers, States, and War* (Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 1996).
- Cohen, Eliot A.: "How to Think About Defense", in 1995–1996 Brassey's Mershon American Defense Annual, Williamson Murray, (Washington, DC: Brassey's, 1995).
- Cohen, Eliot A., Michael J. Eisenstadt and Andrew J. Bacevich: *Knives, Tanks and Missiles: Israel's Security Revolution* (Washington: The Washington Institute for Near East Policy, 1998).
- Cogan, Charles: French Negotiating Behavior: Dealing with La Grand Nation (Washington DC.: United States Institute of Peace, 2003).
- Commager, Henry Steele: The American Mind: An Interpretation of American Thought and Character Since the 1880 (New Haven: Yale University Press, 1950).
- Condon, J. and F. Yousef: *An Introduction to Intercultural Communication* (Indianapolis: Bobbs-Merrill, 1975).
- Cooper, Jeffrey R.: "Another View of the Revolution in Military Affairs," in *In Athena's Camp: Preparing for Conflict in the Information Age*, eds John Arquilla and David Ronfeldt (RAND: National Defense Research Institute, 1997).
- Davis, Norman C.: "An Information-Based Revolution in Military Affairs," in *In Athena's Camp: Preparing for Conflict in the Information Age*, eds John Arquilla and David Ronfeldt (RAND: National Defense Research Institute, 1997).
- Demchak, Chris: Military Organizations, Complex Machines: Modernization in the US Armed Services (Ithaca: Cornell UP, 1991).
- Der Derian, James: Virtuous War (New York: West View Press, 2001).
- Dickson, Paul: *Sputnik: The Shock of the Century* (New York: Walker and Company, 2001).
- Donnelly, Chris: *Red Banner: The Soviet Military System in Peace and War* (London: Jane's Inforamtion Group, 1988).

- Doyle, Michael: Ways of War and Peace (New York: W.W. Norton, 1997).
- Eden, Lynn: Whole World on Fire: Organizations, Knowledge and Nuclear Weapons Devastation (Ithaca: Cornell UP, 2004).
- Ehrhard, Tom: *Net Assessment* (Syllabus, Strategic Studies Course 660.756, SAIS, Johns Hopkins University, 2007).
- Eisenhower, Dwight: Crusade in Europe (Garden City: Doubleday, 1984).
- Eisenstadt, Michael and Kenneth Pollack: "Armies of Snow and Armies of Sand: The Impact of Soviet Military Doctrine on Arab Militaries", in *Diffusion of Military Technology and Ideas*, eds Goldman and Elliason (Stanford, Ca.: Stanford University Press, 2003).
- Ellis, John: Brute Force: Allied Strategy and tactics in the Second World War (New York: Viking, 1990).
- Erez, Miriam, and Earley Christopher: *Culture, Self-Identity, and Work* (New York: Oxford University Press, 1993).
- Erickson, John: Soviet Ground Forces: An Operational Assessment (Boulder, CO: Westview, 1986).
- —: "The Significance of Operational Art and the Development of Deep Battle," in John Gooch, *The Origins of Contemporary Doctrine* (Cambereley: Strategic and Combat Studies Institute, 1997), pp. 106–107.
- —: The Soviet High Command: A military Political History (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1962).
- Ermarth, Fritz W.: Russia's Strategic Culture: Past, Present and Transition? (SAIC report for the Defense Threat Reduction Agency, 31 October 2006).
- Evangelsita, Matthew: Innovation and Arms Race: How the United States and the Soviet Union Develop New Military Technologies (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1988).
- Farrell, Theo: *The Norms of War: Cultural Beliefs and Modern Conflict* (London: Lynne Reinner Publishers, 2005).
- —: The Sources of Military Change: Culture, Politics, Technology (London: Lynne Reinner Publishers, 2002).
- Farrell, Theo and Terry Terriff: *The Sources of Military Change: Culture, Politics, Technology* (London: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 2002).
- Felker, Edward: Russian Military Doctrinal Reform in Light of Their Analysis of Desert Storm (Alabama: Air University Press, 1995).
- Freedman, Lawrence: *The Transformation of Strategic Affairs*, Adelphi Paper, no. 379 (London: IISS, 2006).

- Friedberg, Aaron: In the Shadow of the garrison State: America's Anti-Statism and Its Cold War Strategy (Princeton NJ.: Princeton UP, 2000).
- Friedman, George: The Future of War: Power, Technology, and American World Dominance in the 21st Century (New York: Crown Publishers, 1996).
- Fuller, William C.: Strategy and Power in Russia, 1600–1914 (New York: The Free Press, 1992).
- Galdi, Theodor: *Revolution in Military Affairs?* (Washington DC.: Congressional Research Center, 1995).
- Gannon, Martin: *Understanding Global Cultures* (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 1994).
- Garthoff, Raymond: Significant features of Soviet military doctrine (Santa Monica, Calif., Rand Corp., 1954).
- Gat, Azar: War in Human Civilization (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2006).
- George, Alexander: *Bridging the Gap: Theory and Practice in Foreign Policy* (Washington, DC: United States Institute of Peace Press, 1993).
- George, Alexander and Andrew Bennett: Case Studies and Theory Development in the Social Sciences (Cambridge: MIT Press, 2005).
- Giegerich, Bastian: European Security and Strategic Culture (Munich: Nomos Press, 2006).
- Glantz, David: *The Evolution of Soviet Operational Art, 1927–1991* (London: Frank Cass, 1995).
- Glenn, Edmund: Man and Mankind: Conflict and Communication Between Cultures (Norwood: Ablex Publishing Corporation, 1981).
- Glenn, John, Darryl Howlett and Stuart Poor: *Neorealism Versus Strategic Culture* (London: Ashgate, 2004).
- Glenn, Edmund: Man and Mankind: Conflict and Communication Between Cultures (Norwood: Ablex Publishing Corporation, 1981).
- Goldman, Emily and Leslie Eliason: *Diffusion of Military Technology and Ideas* (Stanford, Ca.: Stanford University Press, 2003).
- Goldman, Emily and Thomas Mahnken: *The Information Revolution in Military Affairs in Asia* (New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2004).
- Gorer, Geoffrey: The American People (New York: W.W. Norton, 1948).

- Gray, Colin: Irregular Enemies and The Essence of Strategy: Can the American Way of War Adapt? (Strategic Studies Institute: US Army War College, 2006).
- ---: Modern Strategy (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1999).
- ——: Out of the Wilderness: Prime Time for Strategic Culture, (Defense Threat Reduction Agency, 2006).
- —: Recognizing and Understanding Revolutionary Change in Warfare (Carlisle: US Army War College, 2006).
- ---: Strategy and History: Essays on Theory and Practice (London: Rutledge, 2006).
- —: "Strategy in the Nuclear Age: The United States, 1945–1991", in *Military Innovation in the Interwar Period*, eds Williamson Murray and Allan Millet (New York: Cambridge University Press, 1996).
- —: The Geopolitics of Superpower (Lexington, Kentucky: University Press of Kentucky, 1988).
- —: War, Peace and Victory: Strategy and Statecraft for the Next Century, (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1990).
- —: Weapons Don't Make War: Policy, Strategy, and Military Technology (Lawrence, KS, 1993).
- Gray, Chris: Peace, War, and Computers (London: Routledge, 2005).
- ---: Postmodern War (York: Guilford Press, 1997).
- Gruber, Ira: "The Anglo-American Military Tradition and the War for American Impendence", in *Against all Enemies*, Kenneth J. Hagan, William R. Roberts, (Westport, CT.: Greenwood Press, 1986).
- Hall, Edward T.: Beyond Culture (New York: Anchor Press, 1976).
- —: The Dance of Life: The Other Dimensions of Time (New York: Anchor Press, 1983).
- —: The Silent Language, (New York: Anchor Press, 1973).
- Hall, Edward, and Mildred Reed Hall: *Understanding Cultural Differences:* Germans, French, and Americans (Yarmouth, Me.: Intercultural Press, 1990).
- Handel, Michael: Masters of War: Classical Strategic Thought (New York: Routledge, 2000).
- Heller, Charles and William Stofft: *America's First Battles*, 1776–1965 (Lawrence: UP of Kansas, 1986).
- Heuer, Richards J.: *Physiology of Intelligence Analysis* (Washington DC.: Center for the Study of Intelligence, 1999).
- Hoffman, Stanley: Gulliver's Troubles: On the Setting of American Foreign Policy (New York: McGraw-Hill, 1968).

- Hofstede, Geert: *Cultures and Organizations: Software of the Mind* (Beverly Hills, CA: Sage, 2004).
- —: Culture's Consequences: Comparing Values, Behaviors, Institutions, and Organizations across Nations (Beverly Hills, CA: Sage, 2006).
- —: Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values (Beverly Hills, CA: Sage, 1980).
- Holder, L. D.: "A New Day for Operational Art", in *Operational Level of War Its Art*, ed. R. L. Allen (Carlisle Barracks: US Army War College, 1985).
- Hudson, Valerie: *Culture and Foreign Policy* (Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers, 1997).
- Hundley, Richard: Past Revolutions, Future Transformation: What can the history of revolutions in military affairs tell us about transforming the US Military? (Santa Monica: RAND, 1999).
- Hull, Isobel: Absolute Destruction: Military Culture and the Practices of War in Imperial Germany (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press, 2005).
- Irwin, Steven M.: *Technology Policy and Americas Future* (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1993).
- Isaacson, Jeffrey, Christopher Layne and John Arquilla: *Predicting Military Innovation* (Santa Monica: RAND, 1999).
- Jacobson, Carl: *Strategic Power: USA/USSR* (New York: St. Martin's Press, 1990).
- Jepperson, Ronald L., Peter J. Katzenstein and Alexander Wendt: "Norms, Identity and Culture in National Security", in *The Culture of National Security: Norms and Identity in World Politics*, ed. Katzenstein (Columbia, NY, Columbia University Press, 1996).
- Johnston, Alastair Iain: Cultural Realism: Strategic Culture and Grand Strategy in Chinese History (Princeton, NJ.: Princeton UP, 1995).
- Johnston, Mark: Fighting the Enemy: Australian Soldiers and their Adversaries in World War II (Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 2000).
- Johnson, Jeannie L.: *Strategic Culture: Refining the Theoretical Construct*, (Defense Threat Reduction Agency, SAIC, 2006).
- Jones, David R.: "Soviet Strategic Culture", in *Strategic Power: USA/USSR* Carl Jacobsen (New York:: St. Martin's Press, 1990), pp. 35–50.
- Kaplan, Fred, and Martin Sherwin: *The Wizards of Armageddon* (Stanford: Stanford UP, 1991).

- Katzenstein, Peter J.: Cultural Norms and National Security: Police and Military in Postwar Japan (Ithaca, NY.: Cornell UP, 1996).
- —: ed.: The Culture of National Security: Norms and Identity in World Politics (Columbia, NY, Columbia University Press, 1996).
- Kier, Elizabeth: *Imagining War: French and British Military Doctrine between the Wars* (Princeton, NJ.: Princeton UP, 1997).
- Kipp, Jacob W.: Mass, Mobility, and the Red Army's Road to Operational Art, 1918–1936 (Kansas: Fort Leavenworth, 1988).
- Knox, MacGregor, and Williamson Murray: *The Dynamics of Military Revolution*, 1300–2050 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001).
- Korb, Lawrence: *The Fall and the Rise of the Pentagon* (Westport: Greenwood Press, 1979).
- —: The Joint Chiefs of Staff: the First Twenty-Five Years (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1976).
- Krepinevich, Andrew F.: *The Army and Vietnam* (Baltimore; London: Johns Hopkins University Press, 1986).
- —: The Military-Technical Revolution: A Preliminary Assessment (Washington, DC.: Center for Strategic and Budgetary Assessments, 2002).
- Kuhn, Thomas: The Structure of Scientific Revolutions (Chicago: Chicago UP, 1996).
- Kupchan, Charles: *The Vulnerability of Empire* (Ithaca, New York: Cornell University Press, 1994).
- Lambeth, Benjamin S.: *The Transformation of American Air Power* (Ithaca, NY.: Cornell UP, 2000).
- Larsen, Jeffrey: Comparative Strategic Cultures Curriculum: Assessing Strategic Culture as a Methodological Approach to Understanding WMD Decision Making by States and Non States Actors (Defense Threat Reduction Agency, 2006).
- Leebaert, Derek: *The Fifty-Year Wound: The True Price of America's Cold War Victory* (Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 2002).
- Legro, Jeffrey: Cooperation under Fire: Anglo-German Restraint during World War II (Ithaca, NY.: Cornell UP, 1995).
- Leites, Nathan: Soviet Style at War (New York: Crane, Russak, 1982).
- ---: Soviet Style in Management (New York: Crane Russak, 1985).
- -: The Operational Code of Politburo (New York: McGraw Hill, 1951).
- Lerner, Max: America as a Civilization (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1957).

- Lock-Pullan, Richard: *US Intervention Policy and Army Innovation* (New York: Routledge 2006).
- Luttwak, Edward: *The Pentagon and the Art of War* (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1984).
- MacKenzie, Donald and Judy Wajcman, eds: *The Social Shaping of Technology* (Milton Keynes, UK: Open UP, 1999).
- Maddrell, Debra O.: Quiet Transformation: The Role of the Office of Net Assessment (National Defense University: The National Security Strategy Process, Research Paper, 2003).
- Mahnken, Thomas: Uncovering Ways of War: US Intelligence and Foreign Military Innovation, 1918–1941 (Ithaca, NY: Cornell UP 2002).
- —: *United States Strategic Culture* (Defense Threat Reduction Agency: SAIC, 2006).
- Mandeles, Mark: *The Future War: Organizations as Weapons*, (Washington: Potomac Books, 2005).
- Marshall, Andrew: "Arms Competitions: The Status of Analysis", in *The Soviet Asset: The Military Competition Over Europe*, Uwe Nerlich (Cambridge: Ballinger, 1983).
- —: Director of Net Assessment, Office of the Secretary of Defense, *Statement for the Subcommittee on Acquisition and Technology* (Washington: Senate Armed Service Committee, 5 May 1995).
- —: Problems of Estimating Military Power (Santa Monica: RAND, 1966).
- —: Some Thoughts on Military Revolutions Second Version (Washington DC.: Office of the Secretary of Defense, 23 August 1993).
- Marshall Andrew W., and Charles Wolf: "The Future Security Environment", Report of the Future Security Environment Working Group, submitted to the Commission on Integrated Long Term Strategy (Washington, D.C.: DoD, October 1988).
- Mastny, Vojtech, and Malcolm Byrne: A Cardboard Castle?: An Inside History of the Warsaw Pact, 1955–1991 (New York: CEU Press, 2005).
- May, Andrew: *The Sources of the U.S. Military Advantage* (McLean, Science Applications International Corporation, 2002).
- McKitrick, Jeffrey: "The Revolution in Military Affairs", in *Battlefield of the Future: 21st Century Warfare Issues*, eds Barry R. Schneider and Lawrence E. Grinter (Maxwell AFB, Ala.: Air UP, September 1995).
- McNaugher, Thomas L. and Roger L. Sperry: "Improving Military Coordination: the Goldwater-Nichols Reorganization of the

- Department of Defense", in *Who Makes Public Policy?* Robert S. Gilmour and Alexis A. Halley (Chatham: Chatham House, 1994).
- Metz, Steven, and James Kievit: Strategy and the Revolution in Military Affairs: From Theory to Policy (Carlisle Barracks, PA: US Army War College, 1995).
- Millett, Allan R., and Williamson Murray: *Military Effectiveness* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1988).
- —: Military Innovation in the Interwar Period (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1996).
- Millet, Allan R., and Peter Maslowski: For the Common Defense: A Military History of the Unites States of America (New York, 1984).
- Moy, Timothy: War Machines: Transforming Technologies in the US Military: 1920–1940 (College Station: Texas A&M UP, 2001).
- Murray, Williamson and Allan Millet: *Military Innovation in the Interwar Period* (New York: Cambridge University Press, 1996).
- Murray, Williamson: "Transformation of Professional Military Education", in *National Security Challenges for the 21st Century* (US Army War College, 2003).
- Naveh, Shimon: In Pursuit of Military Excellence: The Evolution of Operational Theory (London: Frank Cass, 1997).
- Noll, Mark: Religion and American Politics from the Colonial Period to the 1980s (Oxford: Oxford UP., 1990).
- Nunlist, Christian: Cold War Generals: The Warsaw Pact Committee of Defense Ministers, 1969–90 (Parallel History Project on NATO and the Warsaw Pact, 2001).
- Odom, William: The Collapse of the Soviet Military (New Haven: Yale UP, 1998).
- Overy, Richard: Why the Allies Won (New York: Norton, 1995).
- Owens, William: *Lifting the Fog Of War*, (New York: Straus and Giroux, 2000).
- Parke Hughes, Thomas: *Changing Attitudes Toward American Technology* (New York: Harper and Row Publishers, 1975).
- Perry, William J.: Preventive Defense: A New Security Strategy for America (Washington, DC: Brookings Institute Press, 1999).

- Pickett, George, James Roche and Barry Watts: "Net Assessment: A Historical Review", in *On Not Confusing Ourselves*, Andrew Marshall, J.J. Martin and Henry S. Rowen (Oxford: West View Press, 1991).
- Posen, Barry R.: The Sources of Military Doctrine: France, Britain and Germany between the World Wars (Ithaca: Cornell UP, 1984).
- Pintner, Walter: "Russian Military Thought: The Western Model and the Shadow of Suvorov", in *Makers of Modern Strategy from Machiavelli to the Nuclear Age*, Peter Paret (Princeton, NJ.: Princeton University Press, 1986), pp. 354–368.
- Postman, Neil: Technopoly: the Surrender of Culture to Technology (New York: Knopf, 1992).
- Powaski, Ronald E.: *The Cold War: The United States and the Soviet Union,* 1917–1991 (New York: Oxford University Press, 1998).
- Romjue, John: From Active Defense to AirLand Battle: The Development of Army Doctrine 1973–1982 (Ft. Monroe, Va.: US Army TRADOC, 1984).
- Rosen, Stephen Peter: "Net Assessments as and Analytical Tool," in *On Not Confusing Ourselves*, Andrew Marshall, J.J. Martin and Henry S. Rowen (Oxford: West View Press, 1991).
- —: Societies and Military Power: India and its Armies (Ithaca NY.: Cornell University Press, 1996).
- ---: War and Human Nature (Princeton NJ.: Princeton UP, 2006).
- —: Winning the Next War: Innovation and the Modern Military (Ithaca: Cornell UP, 1994).
- Scales, Robert: Firepower in Limited War (Novato, CA: Presidio, 1995).
- Scott, Harriet Fast: Soviet Military Strategy (New York: Crane, Russak, 1975).
- Shain, Barry Alan: The Myth of American Individualism: The Protestant Origins of American Political Thought (Princeton: Princeton UP., 1995).
- Shahar, Lucy, and David Kurz: Border Crossings: American Interactions with Israelis (Yarmouth: Intercultural Press, 1995).
- Sherry, Michael: The Rise of American Air Power: The Creation of Armageddon (New Haven, Yale University Press, 1987).
- Shy, John: A People Numerous and Armed: Reflections on the Military Struggle for American Independence (University of Michigan Press, 1990).
- —: "Jomini," in Makers of Modern Strategy from Machiavelli to the Nuclear Age, Peter Paret (Princeton, NJ.: Princeton University Press, 1986).

- Simpkin, Richard: *Deep Battle: the Brainchild of Marshall Tukhachevskii* (New York: Brassey's Defense Publishers, 1986).
- ---: Race to the Swift (London: Batsfrod, 1985).
- Skuta, Philip: Poker, Blackjack, Rummy and War: The face of American Strategic Culture (Carlisle Barracks, US Army War College, 2006).
- Smith, Raymond F.: *Negotiating with the Soviets* (Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1989).
- Snyder, Jack: *The Soviet Strategic Culture: Implications for Nuclear Options* (Santa Monica, Calif.: Rand Corporation, 1977).
- Sondhause, Lawrence, *Strategic Cultures and Ways of War* (London: Routledge, 2006).
- Stuart, Andrew: Friction in U.S. Foreign Policy: Cultural Difficulties with the World (Carlisle, PA: Strategic Studies Institute, U.S. Army War College, 2006).
- Stewart, Edward and Milton Bennett: American Cultural Patterns: A Cross Cultural Perspective (Yarmouth, Me.: Intercultural Press, 1991).
- Thomas, Timothy L.: "Information Warfare in the Second Chechen War: Motivator for Military Reform?" in *Russian Military Reform*, 1992–2002, Anne C. Aldis and Roger N. McDermott (London: Frank Cass, 2003) pp. 216–217.
- Tilford, Earl: *The Revolutions in Military Affairs: Problems and Cautions* (Strategic Studies Institute, US Army War College, 1995).
- Tomes, Robert: Military Innovation and the Origins of the American Revolution in Military Affairs (PhD Dissertation submitted to the Department of Government and Politics, University of Maryland, 2004).
- Toffler, Alvin, and Heidi Toffler: *War and Anti-War: Survival at the Dawn of the 21<sup>st</sup> Century* (Boston: Little Brown, 1993).
- Van Atta, Richard H., Seymour J. Deitchman and Sidney G. Reed: *DARPA Technical Accomplishments, Volume III* (Alexandria, VA: Institute for Defense Analyses, 1991).
- Van Atta, Richard H. and Michael Lippitz: *Transformation and Transition:*DARPA's Role in Fostering the Emerging Revolution in Military Affairs
  (Alexandria VA.: Institute for Defense Analysis, 2003).
- Van Atta, Richard H., Jack Nunn, and Alethia Cook: "Assault Breaker", in *DARPA Technical Accomplishments, Volume 2 Detailed Assessments,* Richard H. Van Atta et. al (Alexandria, VA: Institute for Defense Analyses, November 2003, P-3698).

- Verhey, Jeffrey: *The Spirit of 1914: Militarism, myth and Mobilizations in Germany*, (Cambridge: Cambridge UP, 2000).
- Vickers, Michael and Robert Martinage: *The Revolution in War* (Washington, D.C.: Center for Strategic and Budgetary Assessments, 2004).
- Waltz, Kenneth: *Theory of International Politics* (New York: Cambridge UP, 1979).
- Wardak, Ghulam, and Graham Turbiville: *The Voroshilov Lectures* (Washington: National Defense Universuity Press, 1989).
- Watts, Barry: "American Air Power", in *The Emerging Strategic Environment:*Challenges of the Twenty-first Century, Williamson Murray (Westport: Praeger Publishers, 1999), pp. 183–218.
- —: Six Decades of Guided Munitions and Battle Networks: Progress and Prospects (Washington: CSBA, 2007).
- —: What Is the Revolution in Military Affairs? (Northrop Grumman Analysis Center, 1995).
- Wendt, Alexander: Social Theory of International Politics (Cambridge University Press, 1999).
- Weigley, Russel: Eisenhower's lieutenants: the campaign of France and Germany, 1944–1945 (London: Sidgwick & Jackson, 1981).
- —: The American Way of War: A History of United States Military Strategy and Policy (Bloomington, Indiana University Press, 1977).
- Wilson, Richard: Compliance Ideologies: Rethinking Political Culture (New York: Cambridge UP, 1992).
- Wohlstetter, Albert: "The Political and Military Aims of Offensive and Defensive Innovation", in Swords and Shields: NATO, the USSR, and New Choices for Long-Range Offense and Defense, Fred Hoffman, Albert Wohlstetter and David Yost (Lexington, Massachusetts, 1987).
- Wohlstetter, Albert, and Henry Rowen: Objectives of the United Sates Military Posture (RAND, May 1, 1959).
- Zachary, Todd: The Effect of American Strategic Culture on Implementing National Strategy, (Maxwell: Air Force University, 2000).
- Zisk Martin, Kimberly: Engaging the Enemy: organizational theory and Soviet Military Innovation (Princeton NJ.: Princeton UP, 1993).

#### **Articles in English**

- Adamsky, Dima: "Through the Looking Glass: The Soviet Military Technical Revolution and the American Revolution in Military Affairs", *Journal of Strategic Studies*, vol. 31, no. 2 (2008): 262–275.
- Adler, Emanuel: "Seizing the Middle Ground: Constructivism in World Politics", European Journal of International Relations, vol. 3, no. 3 (1997).
- Bacevich, Andrew J.: "Preserving the Well Bred Horse", *National Interest* (fall 1994): 43–49.
- Becker, Miriam D.: "Strategic Culture and Ballistic Missile Defense: Russia and the United sates", *Airpower Journal*, special edition (1994): 5–6.
- Berger, Thomas: "From Sword to Chrysanthemum: Japan's Culture of Antimilitarism", *International Security*, vol. 17, no. 4 (spring 1993): 119–150.
- Berkuev, Y., M. Karatuev and L. Zolotov: "The Counter-Terrorist Operation in the North Caucasus: The Main Lessons and Conclusions", *Military Thought*, no. 3 (May-June 2000): 5–21.
- Biddle, Stephen: "Assessing Theories of Future Warfare", *Security Studies*, vol. 8, no. 1 (1998): 51–74.
- Blank, Stephen: "Preconditions for a Russian RMA: Can Russia Make the Transition", *National Security Studies Quarterly*, (2000).
- Boyer, Peter: "How Donald Rumsfeld reformed the Army and lost Iraq", *New Yorker*. 13 November 2006.
- Bracken, Paul: "Net Assessment: A Practical Guide", *Parameters*, vol. 6 (spring 2006).
- Brisky, Larry: "The Reconnaissance Destruction Complex: A Soviet Operational Response to Air-Land Battle", *Soviet Military Studies*, no. 2 (1990): 297–8.
- Bronfeld, Saul: "Fighting Outnumbered: The Impact of the Yom Kippur War on the U.S. Army", *The Journal of Military History*, vol. 71, no. 2 (April 2007): 465–498.
- Carafano, James Jay: "Dynamics of Military Revolution, 1300–2050", *Richmond Independent News*, 13 September, 2002.
- —: "Stopping Surprise Attacks: Thinking Smarter about Homeland Security", *Heritage Foundation Backgrounder*, 23 April 2007.

- Cohen, Eliot: "Change and Transformation in Military Affairs", *Journal of Strategic Studies*, vol. 27, no. 3 (September 2004).
- —: "Net Assessment: An American Approach", *Jaffe Center for Strategic Studies Memorandum*, no. 29 (Tel Aviv University, April 1990).
- —: "The Mystique of US Air Power", Foreign Affairs, vol. 73, no. 1 (1994): 109–124.
- Desch, Michael: "Culture Clash: Assessing the Importance of Ideas in Security Studies", *International Security*, vol. 23, no. 1 (summer 1998).
- Dittmer, Lowell: "Political Culture and Political Symbolism: Toward a Theoretical Syntheses", *World Politics*, vol. 29 (1977): 552–588.
- Digby, James: "New technology and Super-Power Actions in Remote Contingencies", *International Security*, vol. 8, no. 3 (1983/1984).
- Donnelly, Christopher: "The Soviet Operational Maneuver Group: A New Challenge for NATO", *International Defense Review*, vol. 15, no. 9 (1982).
- Donovan, Murphy: "Startegic Literacy", Air Power Journal (winter 1988).
- Downey, Frederick, and Steven Metz: "The American Political Culture and Strategic Planning", *Parameters*, vol. XVIII (September 1988): 34–42.
- Dueck, Colin: "Realism, Culture and Grand Strategy: Explaining America's Peculiar Path to World Power", *Security Studies*, vol. 14, no. 2 (April-June 2005): 195–231.
- Duffield, John S., Theo Farrell, Richard Price and Michael C.Desch: "Isms and Schisms: Culturalism versus Realism in Security Studies", *International Security*, vol. 24, no. 1 (summer 1999): 156–180.
- Elkins, David and Richard Simeon: "A Cause in Search of Its Effect, or What Does Political Culture Explain?" *Comparative Politics*, vol. 11, no. 2 (January 1979): 127–128.
- Erez, Miriam, and Earley Christopher: "Comparative Analysis of Goal-Setting Strategies Across Cultures", *Journal of Applied Psychology*, vol. 72 (1987): 658–665.
- Ermarth, Fritz: "Contrasts in American and Soviet Strategic Thought", *International Security*, vol. 3, no. 2, (autumn 1978): 138–155.
- Farrell, Theo: "Culture and Military Power", *Review of International Studies* (1998).
- —: "Figuring out Fighting Organizations: The New Organizational Analysis in Strategic Studies", Journal of Strategic Studies, vol. 19 (1996): 122–135.
- —: "Memory, Imagination and War", *History*, vol. 87, no. 285 (2002): 325–348.

- —: "Strategic culture and American Empire", SAIS Review, vol. XXV, no. 2 (summer-fall, 2005).
- —: "Transnational Norms and Military Development", European Journal of International Relations (2002).
- -: "World Culture and Military Power", Security Studies (2005).
- Finnemore, Martha and Kathryn Sikkink: "International Norm Dynamics and Political Change", *International Organization*, vol. 52, no. 4 (1998): 887–917.
- FitzGerald, Mary C.: "The Russian Military's Strategy for 'sixth generation' warfare", *Orbis* (summer 1994).
- Gaenslen, Frtiz: "Culture and Decision Making in China, Japan, Russia, and The United States", *World Politics*, vol. 39 (1986): 78–103.
- Gertz, Bill and Rowan Scarborough: "Yoda and the Jedis", *Inside the Ring*, 6 April 2001.
- Glenn, Edward: "Discussion and Debate on Conceptual Styles", *American Anthropologist*, vol. 71, no. 6. (December 1970): 1448–1450.
- Gray, Colin: "A Changing Nature of Warfare?" *Naval War College Review*, vol. 49, no. 2 (spring 1996): 7–22.
- —: "National Style in Strategy: The American Example", *International Security*, vol. 6, no. 2 (fall 1981): 35–37.
- —: "Strategic Culture as Context: The First Generation of Theory Strikes Back", *Review of International Studies*, vol. 25 (1995).
- Grissom, Adam: "The Future of Military Innovation Studies", *Journal of Strategic Studies*, vol. 29, no. 5 (October 2006): 905–934.
- Goure, Dan: "Is There a Military Technical Revolution in America's Future?" Washington Quarterly, vol. 16, no. 4 (autumn 1993): 173–195.
- Hollinger, David A.: "The Problem of Pragmatism in American History", *Journal of American History*, vol. 67, no. 1 (1980): 88–107.
- Hopf, Ted: "The Promise of Constructivism in International Relations", *International Security*, vol. 23, no. 1 (summer 1998).
- Horowitz, Michael and Stephen Rosen: "Evolution or Revolution?" *Journal of Strategic Studies*, vol. 28, no. 3 (June 2005).
- Huntington, Samuel: "Conventional Deterrence and Conventional Retaliation in Europe", *International Security*, vol. 8, no. 3 (1983/1984).
- Inglehart, Ronald: "The Renaissance of Political Culture", *American Political Science Review*, vol. 82, no. 4 (1988): 1203–1230.

- Jacobs, Walter: "Operational Art", Army, no. 11 (1961),
- Johnston, Alastair Iain: "Thinking about Strategic Culture", *International Security*, vol. 19, no. 4 (spring 1995): 32–64.
- Katzenstein, Peter J., Robert O.Keohane and Stephen Krasner: "International Organization and the Study of World Politics", *International Organization*, vol. 52, no. 4 (1998).
- Kelley, Stephanie: "Rumors in Iraq: A Guide to Winning Hearts and Minds", *Strategic Insights*, vol. IV, issue 2 (February 2005).
- Kier, Elizabeth: "Culture and Military Doctrine: France Between the Wars", *International Security*, vol. 19, no. 4 (spring 1995): 65–93.
- Kiszely, John: "Thinking About the Operational Level", *RUSI Journal*, vol. 150, no. 6 (December 2005).
- Klein, Yitzhak: "A Theory of Strategic Culture", *Comparative Strategy*, vol. 10, no. 1 (1991): 2–12.
- Kober, Avi: "Does the Iraq War Reflect a Phase Change in Warfare?" *Defense and Security Analyses*, vol. 21, no. 2 (2005).
- Krepinevich, Andrew: "Cavalry to Computer: the pattern of Military Revolutions", *National Interest*, no. 37 (fall 1994).
- Kristol, Irving: "Defining Our national Interest", *National Interest* (fall, 1990): 19–20.
- Lantis, Jeffrey: "Strategic Culture: from Clausewitz to Constructivism", *Strategic Insights*, vol. IV, issue 10 (October 2005).
- Legro, Jeffrey: "Culture and Preferences in the International cooperation Two-Step", American Political Science Review, vol. 90, no. 1 (March 1996): 118–137.
- Linn, Brian M.: "The American Way of War Revised", *Journal of Military History*, vol. 66, no. 2 (April 2002): 501–533.
- Lock-Pullan, Richard: "How to Rethink War: Conceptual Innovation and Air Land Battle Doctrine", *Journal of Strategic Studies*, vol. 28, no. 4 (2005): 679–702.
- —: "The US Way of War and the War on Terror", *Politics and Policy*, vol. 34, no. 2 (2006): 374–399.
- Lord, Carnes: "American Strategic Culture", *Comparative Strategy*, vol. 5, no. 3 (1985): 289–290.

- Luttwak, Edward: "American Style of Warfare and the Military Balance", *International Security*, vol. 8, no. 3 (1983/1984).
- --: "The Operational Level of War", International Security (winter 1980/81).
- Lynn, William J. and Barry R. Posen: "The Case for JCS Reform", *International Security*, vol. 10, no. 3 (winter 1985-1986).
- Mahnken, Thomas: "Uncovering Foreign Military Innovation", *Journal of Strategic Studies*, vol. 22, no. 4 (December 1999): 26–64.
- Mahnken, Thomas and James FitzSimonds: *The Limits of Transformation:*Officer Attitudes toward the Revolution in Military Affairs, Newport Paper, no. 17 (Newport: Naval War College Press, 2003).
- Marshall, Andrew W.: "A Program to Improve Analytical Methods Related to Strategic Forces", *Policy Sciences*, vol. 15, no. 1 (November, 1982).
- McKitrick, Jeffrey: "Adding to Net Assessment", Parameters (summer 2006).
- McMaster, H.R.: "On War: Lessons to be Learned", *Survival*, vol. 50, no. 1 (February-March 2008): 19–30.
- Mearsheimer, John: "Precision-Guided Munitions and Conventional Deterrence", *International Security*, vol. 8, no. 3 (1983/1984).
- Mead, Walter Russell: "The Jacksonian Tradition and American Foreign Policy", *National Interest* (winter 1999/2000): 5–29.
- Meyer, Christoph: "Convergence towards a European Strategic Culture? A Constructivist Framework for Explaining Changing Norms", European Journal of International Relations, vol. 11 (2005).
- Morgan, Maththew J.: "An Evolving View of Warfare: War and Peace and the American Military Profession", *Small Wars and Insurgencies*, vol. 16, no. 2 (June 2005): 147–169.
- Odom, William: "Soviet Force Posture: Dilemmas and Directions", *Problems of Communism* (July-August, 1985).
- O'Hanlon, Michael: "Can High Technology Bring the US Troops Home?" *Foreign Policy*, no. 3 (winter 1998-1999): 72–86.
- Owens, William A.: "The Emerging System of Systems", *Proceeding* (May 1995): 36–39.
- Peoples, Columba: "Sputnik and "skill thinking" revisited: technological determinism in American responses to the Soviet missile threat", *Cold War History*, vol. 8, issue 1 (February 2008): 55 75.
- Perry, William: "Desert Storm and Deterrence", *Foreign Affairs*, no. 70 (fall 1991): 66–82.

- Posen, Barry R.: "Nationalism, the Mass Army, and Military Power", International Security, vol. 18, no. 2 (1993).
- Ricks, Thomas: "Pentagon Study May Bring Big Shake Up", Washington Post, 9 February, 2001.
- Record, Jeffrey: "Collapsed Countries, Casualty Dread, and the American Way of War", *Parameters*, (summer 2002): 4–23.
- Rogers, Bernard W.: "Follow On Forces Attack: Myths and Realities", NATO Review, vol. 32, no. 6 (1984): 1–9.
- Roman, Peter J. and David W. Tarr: "The Joint Chiefs of Staff: From Service Parochialism to Jointness", *Political Science Quarterly*, vol. 113, no. 1 (1998): 91–111.
- Rose, Gideon: "Neoclassical Realism and Theories of Foreign Policy", *World Politics*, vol. 51, no. 1 (October 1998): 144–172.
- Rosen, Stephen Peter: "Military Effectiveness: Why Society Matters", International Security, vol. 19, no. 4 (1995): 5–31.
- Scales, Robert H.: "Culture Centric Warfare", US Naval Institute Proceedings, vol. 130, no. 10 (October 2004): 32–36.
- Sergeev, V., V. Akimov, V. Lukov and P. Parshin: "Interdependence in a Crisis Situation: A Cognitive Approach to Modeling The Caribbean Crisis", *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, vol. 34, no. 2 (June 1990): 179–207.
- Silverstein, Ken: "The Man from ONA", Nation, 7 October 1999.
- Starry, Donn A.: "A Perspective on American Military Thought", *Military Review*, vol. 69 (1989): 2–11.
- —: "Extending the Battlefield", *Military Review*, vol. 61, no. 3 (1981): 31–50.
- ---: "To Change the Army", Military Review, vol. 63, no. 3 (1983).
- Swidler: Ann, "Culture in Action: Symbols and Strategies", *American Sociological Review*, vol. 51, no. 2 (April 1986).
- The U.S. Army Center of Military History, transcript from the Fletcher Conference, 3 November 1999 [online 15 Jul 2008], URL: http://www.army.mil/cmh-pg/documents/Fletcher/Fletcher-99/F99-P5-T.htm.
- Triandis, Harry: "The Self and Social Behavior in Different Cultural Contexts", *Psychology Review*, vol. 96 (1997): 269–289.
- Vest, Jason: "A New Marshall Plan", In These Times, 2 April 2001.
- Watts, Barry: "Evolving Military Affairs", Defense News, 22 May, 2006.

- Wendt, Alexander, "Anarchy is What States Make of It: The Social Construction of Power Politics", *International Organization*, vol. 46, no. 2 (spring 1992).
- —: "Constructing International Politics", *International Security*, vol. 20, no. 1 (1995).
- Wohlstetter, Albert: "Between an Unfree World and None: Increasing Our Choices", *Foreign Affairs*, vol. 63, no. 5 (summer 1985).
- —: "Threats and Promises of Peace: Europe and America in the New Era", *ORBIS*, vol. 17, no. 4 (winter 1974).

## Books, Chapters in Books, and Monographs in Russian

- Anureev, I.I.: Nauchno tekhnicheskii progess I ego ispolzovanie v voennom dele [Scientific-technical progress and its implications to military affairs] (Moscow: Obshestvo Znanie, 1982).
- Altukhov, P.K.: Osnovy teorii upravleniya voyskami [The Basics of the Forces Command] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1984).
- Babadzhanian, A.: *Tanki i tankovie voiska* [Tanks and Armor Corps] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1980).
- Baranov, A.O.: Sushnost' sovremennoi voenno-tekhnicjheskoi revoliutzii [The Essence of the Current Military -Technical Revolution] (Moscow: Ministerstvo Oborony, 1977).
- Bondarenko, V.M.: *Nauchno tekhnicheskii progress I voennoe delo* [Scientifictechnical progress and military affairs] (Moscow: Centralnyi Dom SA im. Frunze, 1973).
- —: Sovremennaya voennaia nauka I razvitie voennogo dela [The Modern Science and The Development of Military Affairs] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1976).
- Derevianko, P.M.: *Revoliutsiia v voennom dele: vchem ee sushchnost'?* [The Essence of the Revolution in Military Affairs] (Moscow: Ministerstvo Oborony SSSR, 1967).
- Frunze, M.V.: Edinaia veonnaia doktrina i Krasnaia armiia [The Unified Military Doctrine and the Red Army] (Moscow: Voennizdat, 1921).
- —: *Esli zavtra voina*? [If the War Comes Tomorrow] (Moscow: Vladar, 1995).
- Gareev, M.A.: M.V. Frunze Voennyi Teoretik [M.V.Frunze Military Theoretician] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1982).
- -: Sobranie sochinenii [Selected Works] (Moscow: Voen Izdat, 1929).

- Gaivoronovksii, F.F.: Evoliutsiia voennogo iskusstva: etapy, tendentsii, printsipy [Evolution of the Development of the Military Art] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1987).
- Gaivoronovskii, F.F. and M.I. Galkin: *Kultura voennogo myshlenia* [The Culture of Military Thought] (Moscow: Voennizdat, 1991).
- Gilmanov, A.Z.: O Nauchno tekhnicheskoi revoliutcii kak vazhnom faktore sozdaniia materialno-tekhnicheskoi bazy komunizma [Scientific revolution as an important factor in the material technical base of communism] (Kazan': Kazanskoe Vysshee Voennoe Inzhenernoe Uchilishe, 1982).
- Gorkin, A.P., V.A. Zolotarev and V.M. Karev: *Voennyi Entziklopedicheskii Slovar*¹ [Military Encyclopedic Vocabulary] (Moscow: Institut Voennoi Istorii, MO RF, 2001).
- Gorbatenko, D.D.: *Faktor vremeni v sovremennom boiu* [The Time Factor in Modern Combat] (Moscow: Ministerstvo Oborony, 1972).
- Gorbunov, V.A.: *Effektivnost' obnaruzheniia celei* [Effective Targeting] (Moscow: Ministerstvo Oborony, 1980).
- Grudinin, I.A.: *Dialektika I sovremennoe voennoe delo* [Dialectics and Modern Military Affairs] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1971).
- Grinevskii, Oleg: *Perelom: ot Brezhneva k Gorbachevu* [The Clash: from Brezhnev to Gorbachev] (Moscow, Olma Press, 2004).
- —: Stsenarii dlia tret'ei mirovoi [Scenerio for the WWIII] (Moscow, Olma Press, 2002).
- Gusev, S.I.: *Grazhdanskaia Voina I Krasnaia Armiia* [The Civil War and the Red Army] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1958).
- Kir'ian, M.M.: *Nauchno-tekhnicheskii progress i vooruzhennie sily SSSR* [The Scientific-Technological Progress and the Soviet Military Forces] (Moscow, Voennoe Izdatel'stvo, 1982).
- Konoplev, V.K.: *Nauchnoe predvidenie v voennom dele* [Scientific Forecasting in Military Affairs] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1974).
- Kokoshin, A.A.: *Armiia i Politika* [Military and Politics] (Moscow: Mezhdunarodnie Otnoshenia, 1995).
- Kornienko, Georgii: *Kholodnaia Voina: svidetel'stvo ee uchastnika* [The Cold War: The Memoirs of the Participant] (Moscow, Olma Press, 2001).
- Kozlov, M.M.: Akademiia General'nogo Shtaba [The Academy of the General Staff] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1987], pp. 184–7.

- Krest'ianinov, V.F.: *Nauchno tekhnicheskaia revoliutcia I revoliutcia v voennom dele* [Scientific technical revolution and revolution in military affairs] (Leningrad, Voennaia Akademiia Tyla I Transporta, 1971).
- Krupnov, S.I.: *Dialektika I voennaia nauka* [Dialectics and Military Science] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1963).
- Kulikov, V.G.: *Akademiia General'nogo Shtaba* [The Academy of the General Staff] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1976).
- Lomov, N.A.: Nauchno tekhnicheskii progress I revoliutzia v voennom dele [Scientific Technological Progress and Revolution in Military Affairs] (Moscow: Minsiterstvo Oborony, 1973).
- Man'ko, Iu.V.: *Dialektika razvitiia sposobov I form vooruzhennoi bor'by* [The Dealectics of the Develpemt of Means and Froms of Combat] (Leningrad: Voennaia Akademia Sviazi, 1975).
- Merimskii, V.A.: Takticheskaia podgotovka motorstelkovykh I tankovykh podrazdelenii [The Tactical Preparation of Armor Formations] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1984).
- Mikhalkin, N.V.: Logiko-gnoseologicheskii analiz voenno-tekhnicheskogo poznaniia [Logical-Gnostic Analysis of the MTR] (PhD Candidate dissertation, Moscow: Voenno-Politicheskaia Akademia, 1983).
- Milovidov, A.S.: Voenno-teoreticheskoe nasledie V.I.Lenina I problemi sovremennoi voini [Military Theoretical Heritage of Lenin and Modern Military Affairs] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1987).
- Ogarkov, N.V.: *Istoriia Uchit Bditel'nosti* [The History Teaches Vigilance] (Moscow: Ministerstvo Oboroni SSSR, 1985).
- —: Vsegda v gotovnostii k zashchite Otechestva [Always in Readiness for Defending the Motherland] (Moscow: Ministerstvo Oboroni SSSR, 1982).
- Ol'shtynskii, L.I.: *Vzaimodeistvie armii I flota* [The Cooperation of the Army and the Fleet] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1983).
- Otiutzkii, G.P.: Voenno tekhnicheskaia politika gosudarstva kak factor razvitiia sistemy "chelovek-voennaia tekhnika [The Military Technical Policy] (Moscow: Voenno Politicheskaia Akademia, 1982).
- Pushkarev, Nikolai: *GRU: Vymysly i real'nost'* [GRU: The Myths and the Reality] (Moscow: Eksmo, 2004).
- Reznichenko, V.G.: Taktika [Tactics] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1984).
- —: "Vysokotochnoe oruzhie" [The Precision Guided Munitions] in *Voennyi* entsiklopedicheskii slovar, ed. S.F. Akhromeev (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1986).

- Shaposhnikov, Boris: *Mozg Armii* [The Brain of the Military] (Moscow: Voennaia Literatura, 1978).
- Shavrov, I.E., and N.I. Galkin: *Metodologiia voenno-nauchnogo poznaniia* [Methodology of the Military Scientific Research] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1977).
- Shlipchenko, V.I.: *Beskontktnye voiny* [The Stand-Off Wars] (Moscow: Gran Press Publishers, 2001).
- —: Voina budushchego [Future War] (Moscow: Obshchestvenii Nauchnii Fond, 1999).
- —: Voiny Shestogo pokoleniia: Oruzhie i voennoe iskusstvo budushchego [Wars of the Six Generation] (Moscow: Veche, 2002).
- Serebriannikov, V.V.: Osnovi Marksistsko-Leninskogo ucheniia o voine i mire [The Foundations of the Marx-Lenin Theory of Peace and War] (Moscow: Voennoe izdatel'stvo, 1982).
- Simonov, N.S.: Voenno-promyshlennyi kompleks v SSSR: tempy ekonomicheskogo rosta, struktura, organizatciia upravelniia [The Military Industrial Complex in the USSR] (Moscow: Simonov Press, 1996).
- Sokolovskii, V.D.: Voennaia strategiia [The Military Strategy] (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1962).
- Suvorov, A.V.: *Nauka pobezhdat* [The Science of Victory] (Moscow: Molodaia gvardiia, 1984).
- Svechin, Aleksandr: *Evoliutcia voennogo iskusstva* [Evolution of Military Art] (Moscow: Kuchkovo Pole, 2002).
- ---: Straetgia [Strategy] (Moscow: Voennyi Vestnik, 1927).
- Trendafilov, Dimitr: *Ideologicheskie aspekty sovremennoi voenno-tekhnicheskoi revoliutcii* [Ideological Aspects of the Current MTR] (PhD Candidate dissertation, Moscow: Voenno Politicheskaia Akademia, 1977).
- Troshev, Gennadii: Moia Voina [My War] (Moscow: Vagrius, 2004).
- Varennikov, V.I.: *Nepovtorimoe* [The Non-returnable] (Moscow: Art Press, 2001).
- Zakharov, M.V,. *General'nyi shtab v predvoennye gody* [The General Staff in the Years Prior to the WWII] (Moscwo: Voenizdat, 1989).
- Zolotarev, V.A.: *Istoriia voennoi strategii Rossii* [The History of the Russian Military Strategy] (Moscow: Institut Voennoi Istorii MO RF, 2000).

## **Articles in Russian**

- Adgamov, A.M.: "Protiv shablona I konservatizma v taktike I takticheskoi podgotovke" [Against Conservatism in Tactics and Tactical Preparations], VM, no. 10 (1988).
- Afinov, V.V.: "Amerikanskaia sistema PLSS" [American PLSS System], ZVO, no. 4 (1980): 55–57.
- :"Razvitie v SShA vysokotochnogo oruzhia i perspektivy sozdania razvedovatel'no-udarnikh kompleksov" [The US PGMs and the Perspectives of the Creation of the Reconnaissance Strike Complexes], VM, no. 4 (1983): 63–71.
- —: "Sredstva REB sukhoputnykh voisk SShA" [The Means of the EW in the US Army], ZVO, no. 4 (1980): 55–57.
- Akhromeyev, S.F.: "Prevoskhodstvo sovetskoi voennoi nauki i sovetskogo voennogo iskusstva odin iz naibolee vazhnykh faktorov pobedy" [The Supremacy of the Soviet Military Science One of the Most Important Factors of the Victory], *Kommunist* (February 1985).
- Aleksandrov, V.A.: "O razvitii avtomatizirovannykh system upravleniia v armii SshA" [The Development of the Automatic Control Systems in the US Army], VM, no. 3 (1983): 74–78.
- Aleksandrov, V.A. and V.A. Tumas: "Sovremennaia oborona po vzgliadam NATO" [The Modern Defense According to NATO Views], VM, no. 10 (1978): 89–96.
- Anureev, I.: "KPSS i voennoe stroitel'stvo" VM, no. 9 (1983): 73-78.
- —: "Nauchno tekhnicheskii progress i voennaia nauka" [Scientific Technological Progress and Military Science], VM, no. 2 (1970): 27–39.
- —: "O vzaimosviazi voennoi nauki s estevstvennymi naukami" [The Relationship between the Military and the Natural Sciences], *VM*, no. 1 (1981): 27–35.
- —: "Vyshe effektivnost' i kachestvo voenno-nauchnykh znanii" [The Improvement in the Quality of the Military Knowledge], VM, no. 5 (1983): 3–16.
- —: "Znachenie nauchno tekhnicheskoi revoliutsii dlia ukreplenia oborony i povysheniia boevoi gotovnosti Sovetskikh Vooruzhennykh Sil" [The Meaning of the Scientific Revolution for the Military Readiness of the Soviet Army], VM, no. 6 (1975): 65–76.
- Baturin, A.S.: "Nauchno tekhnicheskaia revoliutsiia i voennye prigotovleniia SShA" [The Military Technical Revolution and the US Military Preparations], VM, no. 1 (1981): 75–80.

- Belov, M., and V. Shchukin: "Razvedovatel'no-porazhayusshchiye kompleksy armii SShA" [Reconnaissance Strike Complexes in the US Army], VV, no. 1 (1985): 86–89.
- Bezkhrebetnii, M.I.: "Podgotovka posleduiushchikh nastupatel'nikh operatsii" [The Preparation of the Subsequent Offensive Operations], *VM*, no. 7 (1982): 28–38.
- —: "Sovmestnaia operatsiia glavnaia forma sovremennikh boevikh deistvii" [The Modern Operation The Chief Form of Combat], *VM*, no. 7 (1979): 27–34.
- Bondarenko, V.: "Nauchno-tekhnicheskii progress i voennoe delo" [The Military Technical Progress and Military Affairs], *Kommunist vooruzhennikh sil* (November, 1986): 13–21.
- Borisov, V.: "Organizatsiia voennykh nauchno-tekhnicheskikh issledovanii v NATO" [Organization of the Military Scientific Technological Research in the NATO], VM, no. 2 (1975): 84–89.
- Bulatov, A.F.: "Aktual'nye voprosy sovremmennogo nastupatel'nogo boia" [The Actual Questions of the Modern Offensive Battle], VM, no. 11 (1984): 60–69.
- —: "Bor'ba s tankami na bolshikh dal'nostiakh" [Engaging the Tanks from the Greater Distances], ZVO, no. 12 (1979): 12–13.
- Cherednichenko, M.: "Nauchno tekhnicheskii progress i razvitie vooruzhenia i voennoi tekhniki" [Scientific Technological Progress and Development of Military Technologies], VM, no. 4 (1972): 29–41.
- Czarnotta, Zygmunt: "Uzycie artylerii w wojnach lokalnych" [Deployment of Artillery in Local Wars], *Przeglad Wojsk Ladowych*, vols. 5–6 (1987).
- Danilevich, A.A.: "Voenno teoriticheskoe nasledie M.V.Frunze i sovremmennost" [The Heritage of Frunze and the Modern Times], *VIZh*, no. 6 (1985): 80–87.
- Dmitriev V., and N. Germanov: "Upravliemye aviatsionnye bomby" [The Guided Bombs], ZVO, no. 3 (1981): 55–60.
- Dmitriev, Iu.I., and V.A. Mashchenko: "Priminenie navigatsionnikh sputnikovykh system SShA v voennykh tseliakh" [The Implementation of the US Navigational Systems in Military Purposes], VM, no. 10 (1983): 79–80.
- Dmitriev, V.: "Amerikanskaia sistema SOTAS" [American System SOTAS], *ZVO*, no. 4 (1982): 40–42.
- Dmitriev, N.: "Vzaimodeistvie aviatsii s sukhoputnymy voiskami" [The Cooperation of the Air and Ground Forces], ZVO, no. 6 (1980): 48.

- Dvoretskiy A., and V. Potashev: "O kontceptcii vozdushno-nazemnoi operatcii" [The Conception of the Air-Land Operation], *Vestnik PVO*, no. 8 (August 1984).
- Ekimovskii, A.Z.: "Puti sozdaniia ustoichivoi i aktivnoi oborony" [The Ways of the Establishing Stable and Active Defense], VM, no. 7 (1983): 19–28.
- Evgeniev, E.G.: "Novye napravleniia gonki vooruzhenii v stranah NATO" [New Directions in the Arms Race in the US], VM, no. 1 (1977): 90–96.
- Filippov, V. "Soedineniia novogo tipa v armii SShA" [New Formations in the US Army], ZVO, no. 7 (1978): 29.
- Fomich, N.: "Protivotankovye sredstva armii SShA" [The Anti-Armor Warfre in the US Army], *ZVO*, no. 8 (1981): 35–40.
- Gareev, M. A.: "Ob opyte boevoi podgotovki voisk" [The Experience of the Combat Preparation of Forces], *VIZh*, no. 4 (1983): 11–20.
- —: "Razvitiie form i metodov operativnoi i boevoi podgotovki v Sovetskoi Armii" [The Development of the Operational and Combat Readiness in the Soviet Army], VM, no. 2 (1987): 38–50.
- —: "Tvorcheskii kharakter sovestkogo voennogo isskustva v Velikuiu Otechestvennuiu Voinu" [The Creativity of the Soviet Operational Art during WWII], *VIZh*, no. 7 (July 1985): 28–29.
- —: "Vydaiuschiisia voennyi reformator" [The Distinguished Military Reformer], KZ, 30 October 2002.
- Golushko, I.: "Tyl v usloviah ispolzovania protivnikom vysoko-tochnogo oruzhiia" [The Rear in the Ear of the PGMs], *Tyl i snabzhenie,* no. 7 (July 1984).
- Isaev, P.: "Bor'ba s tankami" [The Anti Tanks Warfare], ZVO, no. 12 (1982): 37–42.
- Ivliev, N.I.: "Operativnaia i boevaia podgotovka vooruzhennykh sil NATO v 1982 godu" [Operational and Combat Preparation of the NATO Forces in 1982], VM, no. 6 (1983): 70–75.
- Ivliev, N., and V. Viktorov: "Kompleksnoe uchenie voisk tsentral'noi gruppy armii NATO" [The Complex Maneuvers of the Central Group of Forces of NATO], ZVO, no. 9 (1983): 10.
- Ivliev, N.I., and L.V. Levadov: "Strategicheskoe KShU NATO Zima-83" [Strategic Manuvers in NATO, Winter 1983) VM, no. 12 (1983): 70–73.

- Karemov, A.: "Voennaia doktrina SShA" [The US Military Doctrien], ZVO, no. 4 (1983).
- Khar'kov, A.G.: "K voprosu o nachal'nom periode voiny" [The Question of the Initial Stage in War], VM, no. 8 (1984): 25–34.
- —: "Voevat' ne chislom a umeniem" [To Fight by the Quality and not by the Quantity], VM, no. 6 (1983): 34–42.
- Kirilov, V.V.: "Chelovecheskii faktor kak osnovopologaiushii elemnt voennoi moschi gosudarstva'" [The Human Factor as a Fundamental Element of State's Military Power], VM, no. 4 (2006): 17–24.
- Kochiukov, Aleksandr: "Strateg I politik" [Strategist and Politician], *KZ*, 31 October 2002.
- Kruglov, V.V.: "Novyi podhod k analizy sovremennogo protivoborstva" [The New Approach to the Analysis of the Modern Combat], VM, no. 12, December 2006.
- Krupchenko, I.: "Kharakternye cherty razvitiia i primeneniia tankovykh voisk", *ViZh*, no. 9 (1979): 25–32.
- Krymtsev, V.G. and Iu.I. Molostov: "Vysokotochnoe protivotankovoe oruzhie armii stran NATO i perspektivy ego razvitiia" [The PGMs in the NATO Forces and the Perspectives of Its Development], VM, no. 10 (1984): 73–79.
- Krysanov, V.V.: "Massirovanie sil i sredstv na glavnykh napravleniiakhiskusstvo i raschet" [Maneuver of the Forces on the Main Directions the Art and the Calculation], VM, no. 5 (1984): 26–32.
- Kokoshin, A. A.: "Otvet Rossii budet assimetrichtnyi" [The Russian Answer Will Be Asymmetrical], KZ, 7 April 2007.
- —: "Protivorechiia formirovania i puti razvitiia veonno-tekhnicheskoi politiki Rossii" [Contradictions and Development of the Russian Military Technical Policy], *Voennaia Mysl*, no. 2 (Feb. 1993).
- Korotchenko, Ye.G.: "Ob evoliutsii printsipov voennogo iskusstva" [The Evolution od the Military Art Principles], VM, no. 9 (1988): 22–23.
- Kozanchuk, Fedor: "Novye knigi: kvintesencia voennykh znanii", *Rossiiskoe voennoe obozrenie*, 31 March 2005.
- Kozhin, V.: "Voprosy primeneniia vooruzhennikh sil v operatsiiakh" [The Questions of the Force Deployment in the Operations], *ZVO*, no. 10 (1983): 18–19.
- Kozhin V., and V. Trusin: "Voprosy primeneniia vooruzhennykh sil v operatsiiakh" [The Questions of Force Deployment], (ZVO), no. 10 (1983): 18–19.

- Koziej, Stanislaw: "Przewidywane kierunki zmian w taktyce Wojsk Ladowych" [Anticipated directions for change in tactics of ground troops], *Przeglad Wojsk Ladowych* (September 1986): 1–8.
- Kozlov, M.M.: "Organizatsiia i vedenie strategicheskoi oboroni po opytu Velikoi Otechestvennoi Voiny" [Organisation and Comduct of the Strategic Defense on the Experience of the Great Patriotic War], *VIZh*, no. 12 (1980): 9–17.
- Kozlov, S.: "K voprosu o razvitii sovetskoi voennoi nauki posle vtori mirovoi voiny" [On the Development of the Soviet Military Science after the WWII], VM, no. 2 (February 1964): 64–73.
- Krupchenko, A.I.: "Tekhnicheskoe obespechenie tankovykh korpusov, deistvovavshikh v kachestve podvizhnikh grupp" [Technical Support of the Armor Corps Operations], *ViZh*, no. 6 (1982): 18–26.
- Krupchenko, A.I.: "Kharakternye cherty razvitiia i primeneniia tankovykh voisk" [Characteristics of Development and Deployment of Armor Formations], *ViZh*, no. 9 (1979): 25–32.
- Kurkov, A.P.: "O svobode tvorchestva I nauchnom potenciale professorskoprepodavatelskogo sostava akademii" [The Liberty of Creativity and The Potential of the Pedagogical Corps of the Acedemy], VM, no. 11 (1986).
- Lamkhin, V.: "Vozdushnaia nastupatel'naia operatsiia" [The Air Offensive Operation], *ZVO*, no. 11 (1984): 47–54.
- Levadov, L., and V. Viktorov: "Itogi operativnoi podgotovki ob'edinnenykh vooruzhennykh sil NATO v 1984 godu" [The Summery of the Operational Maneuvers in NATO Forces in 1984], *VM*, no. 3 (1985): 64–72.
- —: "Manevry i ucheniia NATO ugroza miru" [The NATO Maneuvers The Threat to the Peace], *ZVO*, no. 7 (1984): 8–9.
- Loshchilov, I.N.: "Amerikanskaia kontseptsiia upravlenie, sviaz' i razvedka" [American Conception of C3I], VM, no. 7 (1986): 63–72.
- —: "Perspektivy razvitiia ASU operativno takticheskogo naznacheniia sukhoputnykh voisk SShA" [The Perspectives in the Development of the Tactical and Operational C&C Systems in the US Army], VM, no. 7 (1985): 69–77.
- —: "Sredstva avtomatizatsii upravleniia voiskami v boiu" [The Means of Automatics and Control of Forces in Combat], ZVO, no. 5 (1978).
- Maiorov, A.M.: "Proriv oborony: teoriia i praktika mirovykh voin", *VM*, no. 5 (1978): 79–94.

- Makarebskiy, V.: "Blitzkrig v epokhu nauchno tekhnicheskoi revoliutcii" [Blitzkrieg in the Period of the MTR], VZ, no. 9 (September 1986).
- —: "Gonka obychnyh vooruzhenii I problemi ee ogranicheniia" [Convetnional Arms Race The Problems and Limitations], Mirovaya ekonomika I mzhdunarodnye otnosheniia, no. 5 (May 1984).
- Maksimov, N.: "Kontseptsiia "vystrel-porazhenie" [The Fire-Hit Conception], ZVO, no. 11 (1979): 13–14.
- Manzhurin, I.N.: "Otrazhenie kontrudarov protivnika v khode nastupatel'noi operatsii" [The Counter Strikes During the Offensive Operation], VM, no. 10 (1986): 14–22.
- Matsulenko, V.: "Nekotorye vyvody iz opyta nachial'nogo perioda Velikoi Otechestvennoi Voiny" [Some Conclusions form the Experience of the Initial Period of the Great Patriotic War], VIZh, no. 3 (1984): 35–43.
- Maryshev, A.P.: "Nekotorie voprosy strategicheskoi oborony v Velikoi Otechestvennoi Voine" [Some Questions of the Strategic Defense in the Great Patriotic War], *VIZh*, no. 6 (1986): 9–16.
- Mel'nikov, P.: "Operativnaia Maskirovka" [Operational Maskirovka], VIZh, no. 4 (1982): 18–26.
- Modestov, Sergei: "Serii Kardinal Pentagona Andrew Marshall ideolog novoi amerikanskoi revoliucii v voennom dele" [Grey Cardinal of the Pentagon Andrew Mrashall ideologist of the new American RMA], Nezavisimoe Voennoe Obozrenie, no. 4, 14 December 1995.
- Molostov, Iu.: "Vysokotochnoe protivotankovoe oruzhie i obshevoiskovoi boi" [The PGMs and the Comnived Arms Battle], VV (October 1986).
- —: "Zashchita ot Vysokotochnogo Oruzhiia" [The Defense from the PGMs], VV 2 (1987): 83–86.
- Moroz, Vitalii: "Bitva na kul'manakh" [The Battle on the Drawing Tables], *KZ*, 14 March 2007.
- Mozolev, V.F.: "Ob obshchikh osnovakh teorii sovetskogo operativnogo iskusstva" [The Foundations of the Soviet Operational Art Theory], *VM*, no. 3 (1979): 13–22.
- Nazarenko, V.A.: "Narushenie upravleniia voiskami vazhenaia boevaja zadacha" [The Disturbing of Command and Control the Most Important Combat Task], VM, no. 7 (1983): 46–51.
- Nechaev, N.: "Voennye sistemy sviazi: tendencii ikh razvitiia" [The Development of Combat Communication Systems], *Tekhnika I vooruzhenii*a, no. 6 (July) 1986.

- Nikolaev, N.S.: "O kharaktere i soderzhanii operativnoi podgotovki ob'edinennykh sil NATO" [The Character and the Contents of the Operational Preparations of NATO Forces], VM, no. 6 (1980): 66–72.
- Ogarkov, N.: "Glubokaia operatsiia (boi)", [The Deep Operation], in *Sovetskaia voennaia entsiklopedia*, vol. 2 (1976): 574–8.
- ---: Interview with Marshall N.Ogarkov, KZ, 9 May 1984.
- —: "Nadezhnaia zaschita mira" [The Safe Defense], KZ, 23 September 1983.
- —: "Na strazhe mirnogo truda" [Preserving the Peaceful Labor], *Kommunist*, no. 10, (1981): 80–91.
- ---: "Pobeda I segodnaishnii den" [The Victory Today], KZ, 9 May 1983.
- —: "Sovetskaia voennaia nauka" [The Soviet Military Science], *KZ*, 18 February, 1978.
- —: "Voennaia strategiia" [Military Strategy], *Sovetskaia Voennaia Entsiklopediia*, vol. 7 (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1979), pp. 564–5.
- Orlianskii, V.I.: "Vooruzhennaia i informatsionnaia bor'ba: sushchnost' I vzaimosvyaz poniatii I yavlenii" [The Regular and the Information Warfare: the Essence and the Paths of Development], VM, no. 12 (2003).
- Otuytsskiy, G.P.: "K Voprosu o sushchnosti voenno-tekhnicheskikh revoliutsii" [The Essence of the Military Technical Revolution], VM, no. 2 (1998).
- Petrov, S.: "Puti dostizhenia vysokikh tempov nastupleniia" [The Ways to Achieve the High Tempos of Operation], VM, no. 1 (1975).
- Peredel'skii, G.E.: "Tendentsii razvitiia polevoi artilerii NATO" [The Tendencies in the Development of the NATO Field Artillery], VM, no. 11 (1983): 62–69.
- Pombrik, I.D.: "Aktualnye voprosy razvitia teorii nastupatel'noi operatsii" [The Actual Questions of the Development of the Offensive Operation], *VM*, no. 10 (1983).
- Ponomarev, A.N.: "Sostoianie i osnovnye napravleniia razvitiia aviatsionnoi tekhniki VVS SShA i drugikh stran NATO" [The Main Directions in the Development of the Air Technologies in the US and Other NATO Countries], *VM*, no. 6 (1977): 71–81.
- Potapov, Ivan: "Ot Khrushchiova do Gorbacheva", KZ, 11 February 2006.
- Popov, K.M.: "Zarubezhnaia pechat' o kosmicheskom oruzhii" [Foreign Press about the Space Weaponry], VM, no. 1 (1979): 59–66.
- Popov, N.G.: "Dostizhenie zhivuchesti voisk v operatsiiakh" [The Survival of Forces in the Operations], VM, no. 1 (1983): 32–44.

- Razin, A.: "Russkaia ideia i sovrremennaia Rossia: krizis i perspektivi razvitija" [Russian Idea and Contemporary Russia: Crisis and Paths of Development], *Filosofskie nauki*, no. 4 (2001).
- Rodin, V.A. and Efremov, O.Iu.: "O razvitii sistemy chelovek-voennaia tekhnika" [On the Development of the System the Human Being Military Technology], VM, no. 3, (2007): 61–65.
- Savushkin, R.: "K voprosu o vozniknovenii i razvitii operatsii" [The Question of Emergence and Development of Operation], VIZh, no. 5 (May 1979).
- —: "K voprosu o zarozhdenii teorii posledovatel'nikh nastupatelnikh operatsii" [The Emergence of the Theory of the Subsequent Operations], *VIZh*, no. 5 (May 1983): 12–20.
- Savinkin, Aleksandr: "A. Svechin,: zadachi general'nogo shtaba I intelektualism v voennom vospitanii" [A.S. Svechin: The Role of the General Staff and the Intellectuality in Military Affairs], *Nezavisimoe Voennoe Obozrenie*, 17 April 1998.
- Semenov, B.: "Takticheskie upravliaemie rakety klassa vozdukh-poverkhnost" [Tactical Air-Surface Guided Rockets], ZVO, no. 5 (1981): 49–57.
- Shipovalov, V.P.: "Bor'ba s tankami" [The Combat Against Tanks], *ViZh*, no. 9 (September 1986).
- Shramchenko, A.F.: "Vyrabotka tvorcheskogo myshleniia u slushatelei v khode operativno-takticheskoi podgotovki" [The Development of the Creative Thinking of the Audience during the Operational Tactical Preparation], VM, no. 3 (1990).
- Sidorov, V.: "Vedenie operatsii c primeneniem obychnykh sredstv porazheniia" [Operation with Conventional Munitions], *ZVO*, no. 1 (1985): 7–15.
- Simonian, R.: "Tendentsii v razvitiii voennoi doktriny SShA" [Tendencies in the Development of the US Military Doctrine], ZVO, no. 8 (1983): 15.
- Sinitskii, A.G.: "Nekotorie voprosy razvitiia vooruzheniia i boevoi tekhniki sukhoputnikh voisk NATO i ikh boevogo primeneniia" [Some Questions of the Weapons Development of the NATO Ground Forces], VM, no. 10 (1977): 83–91.
- Skachko, P.G.: "Odnovremennoe vozdeistvie na vsiu glubinu operativnogo postroeniia protivnika vedushchaia tendentsiia v razvitii teorii operativnogo iskusstva" [The Simultaneous Influence on the Entire Depth of the Operational Deployment o the Enemy the Main Trend in the Development of the Operational Art], VM, no. 7 (1985): 18–24.

- Solov'ev, A., and Guliaev, L.: "Radio-elektronnaia razvedka SShA" [The US Radio-Electronic Intelligence], *ZVO*, no. 7 (1978): 12–18.
- Stapenko, N.: "Batal'ionnaia takticheskaia gruppa v aktivnoi oborone" [Battalion Tactical Group in Combat], ZVO, no. 2 (1981): 29–34.
- Tkachev, V.V.: "Vzaimodeistvie v nastupatel'nom boiu" [The Cooperation in the Offensive Warfare], VM, no. 8 (1983): 51–56.
- Tukhachevskii, M.N.: "Voina kak problema vooruzhennoi bor'by" [War as a Combat Struggle Problem], in *Boevoi put' Sovetskikh vooruzhennykh sil* (Moscow: Voenizdat, 1960).
- Tumas, V.A.: "Voennoe iskusstvo sukhoputnykh voisk NATO na sovremennom etape" [The Military Art in the US Army at the Current Moment], VM, no. 8 (1977): 79–87.
- Turchenko, V.V.: "O strategicheskoi oborone" [On the Strategic Defense], *VM*, no. 7 (1982): 16–27.
- —: "Tendentsii razvitiia teorii i praktiki strategicheskoi oborony" [The Tendencies in Development of Theory and Practice of the Strategic Defense], VM, no. 8 (1979):13–24.
- Vasil'ev, G.: "Voprosy operativnogo iskusstva v vooruzhennykh silakh SShA" [The Questions of Operational Art in the US Military], ZVO, no. 12 (1983): 3–7.
- Vasil'chenko, M.V.: "Operativnaia podgotovka vooruzhennykh sil NATO v 1980 godu" [Operational Preparations of the NATO Forces in 1980], VM, no. 4 (1981): 62–69.
- Varennikov, V.I.: "Nekotorye problemy razvitiia uspekha v nastupatelnykh operaciiakh" [The Development of Success in Operations], VM, no. 8 (1979).
- Volkov, A.F.: "Leninskie printsypy voenno-tekhnicheskoi politiki KPSS" [The Principles of Lenin in the Military Technical Policy], VM, no. 4 (1980): 31–38.
- Voloshin, L.I.: "Teoriia glubokoi operatsii i tendentsii ee razvitiia" [The Theory and the Development of the Deep Operation], VM, no. 8 (1978): 14–26.
- Vorob'ev, I.N.: "Novoe oruzhie i razvitie printsipov obshchevoiskovgo boia" [New Weaponry and Development of the Combined Combat Operations], VM, no. 6 (1986): 35–35.
- —: "Novie vooruzheniia I principi taktiki" [New Weaponry and Tactics Principles], *Sovetskoe voennoe obozrenie*, no. 2 (February 1987).

- —: "O tvorchestve I novatarstve v taktike" [On Creativity and Novelty in Tactics], VM, no. 3 (1988).
- —: "Pochemu taktika okazalas' v zastoe" [Why the Tactics Was at the Stalemate?], VM, no. 1 (1989).
- —: "Sovremennoe vooruzhenie i taktika" [Modern Weaponry and Tactics], *KZ*, 15 September 1984.
- ---: "Takticheskaia oborona" [Tactical Defense], VM, no. 1 (1989).
- Yegorov, S.: "Mekhanizirovannaia diviziia SShA v nastuplenii" [The US Mechanized Division in the Offence], *ZVO*, no. 4 (1984): 23–28.
- Yevgen'iev, Y.G.: "Novye napravleniia gonki vooruzhenii v stranakh NATO" [The New Directions in the NATO Arms Race], VM, no. 1 (1977): 88–96.
- Zaicev, V.A.: "Universlanoe I Specifichskoe v Rossiiskoi Imperii", *Obshetvennie nauki I sovremennost*, no. 3 (1993): 87–88.
- Zavialov, I.G.: "Oboronitel'naia napravlennost' Sovetskoi voennoi doktriny" [The Defensive Orientation of the Soviet Military Doctrine], VM, no. 1 (1981): 15–26.
- —: "O roli boevogo potentsiala vooruzhennykh sil v nastuplenii i oborone" [On the Role of the Combat potential of the Forces in the Offence and Defense], *VM*, no. 3 (1983): 3–19.
- Zhovannik, A.A.: "Kosmichiskie sistemy sviazi i ikh ispol'zovanie dlia upravleniia vooruzhennymy silami" [The Implementation of the Space Communication Systems for the Command of the Military Forces], VM, no. 4 (1983): 34–42.
- Zhurkin, V.V., S.A. Kaganov and A.V. Kortunov: "O razumnoi dostatochnosti" [About Reasonable Sufficiency], *SSha: Ekonomika*, *Politika, Ideologiia*, no. 12 (December 1987).